
  
 

Board of Directors Meeting of the  

Central Midlands Council of Governments  

Thursday, February 25, 2021  12:00 p.m.  CMCOG Conference Room (Virtual Meeting) 

OVERALL AGENDA  

A
C

T
IO

N
 

 

A. Call to Order and Introductions  Steve MacDougall,  

Chair 

1. Determination of a Quorum  

2. Approve Order and Contents of the Overall Agenda  

3. Invocation   

4. Introduction of New Board Member- 

                                      Moses Bell, Fairfield County Council 

                                      Erin Bergeson, Lexington County 

                                      Joe Mergo, Lexington County 

                                      Cheryl English, Richland County Council 

                                      Jessica Mackey, Richland County Council 

 

  

B. Consent Agenda  

1. Approval of the January 28, 2021 Board Meeting Minutes (Enclosure 1)  

2. CMCOG – COATS MPO Public Participation Plan (Enclosure 2)  

  

C. Regular Agenda  

1. Briefing on Financial and Compliance Report for FY 2019 (Enclosure 3) Chanell Jackson 

2. SCDOT Rural Transportation Survey (Enclosure 4) Reginald Simmons 

  

   

 D. Announcements / Committee or Staff Reports / Correspondences  

 1. COVID – 19 Presentation  Jane Kelly 

 2. Midlands Workforce Development Program Update Chris White 

 3. Executive Director’s Report  Benjamin Mauldin 

   

 E. Old/New Business  

   

 F. Other Business  

   

 G. Adjourn  

 

REMINDER: The next CMCOG Board Meeting will be held on Thursday, March 25, 2021 in the CMCOG 

Conference Room 

Note: Full Agenda packets can be found on the CMCOG website at www.cmcog.org.   

 

 

http://www.cmcog.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

Board of Directors Meeting of the  

Central Midlands Council of Governments  

Thursday, January 28, 2020  12:00 p.m.  CMCOG Conference Room via Virtual Platform 

 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  

Vina Abrams, Newberry County 

John Andoh, The Comet 

Charles Appleby, Richland County 

John Baxter, Richland County 

Todd Beasley, Richland County 

Will Brennon, City of Columbia Council 

Larry Brigham, Lexington County Council 

Susan Brill, Richland County 

Julian Burns, Kershaw County Council Chair 

Kyle Crager, Fairfield County 

Glenn Conwell, Lexington County Council 

Todd Cullum, Lexington County Council 

Smokey Davis, Lexington County 

Rust Depass, City of Columbia 

Doug Fabel, Richland County 

Shaun Greenwood, City of Forest Acres 

Sloan Griffin, Blythewood Town Council 

Bob Hall, Batesburg-Leesville Town Council 

Robert Liming, City of Columbia 

Paul Livingston, Richland County Council 

Jim Manning, Richland County Council 

Steve MacDougall, Town of Lexington Mayor 

Annie McDaniel, Fairfield County Leg. Delegate 

Walt McLeod, Newberry County 

Chakisse Newton, Richland County Council 

Elise Partin, Mayor, City of Cayce 

Shealy Reibold, Richland County 

Cornealius Robinson, Fairfield County Council 

Jeffrey Salters, Lexington County 

Foster Senn, Mayor, City of Newberry 

Charles Simpkins, Lexington County 

Debbie Summers, Lexington County Council 

 

 

 

 

GUESTS PRESENT:  

Michelle Dickerson, City of West Columbia 

Eric Harris - The COMET 

Darren Ledbetter – SCDOT 

Joey McIntyre – SCDOT 

Michelle Ransom - The COMET 

Will Schenk-MBLG 

Christina Lewis-SCDOT 

 

 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT:  

Jessica Foster, Operations Coordinator 

Guillermo Espinosa, Senior Planner 

Petula Hendley, Financial Management/ 

Supportive Services Director 

Chanell Jackson, Finance Director 

Ben Mauldin, Executive Director 

Reginald Simmons, Deputy Executive 

Director/Transportation Director 

Gregory Sprouse, Planning Director

ENCLOSURE 1 



 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER  

 

Chairman Steve MacDougall called the meeting to order at 12:03 p.m. on December 10, 2020.  

 

1. Determination of Quorum  

 

Chairman MacDougall declared the presence of a quorum. 

 

2. Approve Order and Contents of the Overall Agenda   

 

3. Invocation  

 

Vina Abrams gave the Invocation. 

 

 

B. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of the December 10, 2020 Board Meeting Minutes, approved 

2. Resolution to Apply for Federal and State Grants , approved 

3. 2020-2027 TIP Amendment- Senior Transportation approved 

 

MOTION, approved  

Robert Liming moved, seconded by John Andoh, to approve the consent agenda. The motion was 

approved unanimously. 

 

 

C. Regular Agenda 

 

C1. Financial Statement 

 

Chanell Jackson presented the Financial Statement thru December 31, 2020. All programs are on track with 

spending. 

 

MOTION, approved  

Bob Liming moved, seconded by Bob Hall, to approve the Financial Statement thru December 31, 

2020.  The motion was approved. 

 

C2. 2040 LRTP Amendment-Setting the Safety Performance Measures 

 

Reginald Simmons requested approval to adopt SCDOT’s Safety Performance Measures. Christina Lewis 

of SCDOT noted that per federal requirements, performance measures must be set in seven categories to 

meet the national goals. SCDOT was required to evaluate and report on safety targets for the five required 

measures by August 31, 2020. This action starts the 180-day clock for the COATS MPO to take action to 

evaluate and set regionally specific targets or to accept and support the state’s targets. Through a 

coordination effort with COGs and MPOs, SCDOT presented for the following 2017 –2021 Safety Targets 

for consideration: 

 



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

       

 There was a brief discussion. 

 

MOTION, approved  

Bob Hall moved, seconded by Bob Liming, to adopt the 2040 LRTP Amendment-Setting the Safety 

Performance Measures. The motion was approved. 

 

C3. UPWP Amendment – Regional Gateways 

 

Reginald Simmons request the approval to amend the 2020 & 2021 UPWP to add $10,000 for technical 

support towards the development of eight (8) regional gateways. 

 

The Central Midlands Council of Governments in collaboration with its member governments, 

EngenuitySC, Midlands Business Leadership Group, and the South Carolina Department of Transportation 

will be providing technical assistance and support in the management, procurement, and development of 

eight (8) gateways throughout the MPO Planning Area. 

 

These sites include: 

 Airport Blvd Gateway: One mile stretch beginning at I-26 & S.C 302 continuing to the Airport 

Expressway 

 Fort Jackson Gateway: I-77 & Forest Drive 

 Lexington Gateway: I-20 & U.S 1 

 Harbison Gateway: I-26 & Harbison Blvd. 

 Downtown Connector Gateway: I-20& S.C 277 

 I-20 & I-26 

 I-20 & I-77 

 I-77 & I-26 

 

These gateways have been identified as top priorities for many of our member governments with the 

purpose of beautifying each regional gateway with unified landscaping and signage, starting with the 

gateway to Fort Jackson at Interstate 77 and the establishment of an airport corridor along Highway 302. 

Each gateway is highly trafficked and located within ten miles of the South Carolina State House. These 

eight gateways welcome tens of thousands of military personnel and their family and friends each year, as 

well as every other visitor flying into Columbia, S.C. 

 

MOTION, approved  

Bob Hall moved, seconded by Bob Liming, to amend the 2020 & 2021 UPWP to add $10,000 for 

technical support towards the development of eight (8) regional gateways. The motion was approved. 

Total Number of Fatalities 1005 

Fatality Rate per 100 Million Vehicle Miles Traveled 1.760 

Total Number of Serious Injuries 2,950 

Serious Injury Rate per 100 Million Vehicle Miles Traveled 5.350 

Total Number of Non-motorized Fatalities and Serious Injuries 440 



 

 

C4. CMCOG-COATS MPO Public Participation 

 

 Reginald Simmons requested approval to adopt the updated CMCOG-COATS MPO Public Participation  

 Plan. 

 

The Columbia Area Transportation Study (COATS) Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) policy is 

to support and encourage public participation and to adhere to the principles of Environmental Justice in 

the metropolitan planning process. The MPO’s public participation policy is designed to ensure 

opportunities for the public to express its views on transportation issues and to become active participants 

in the decision-making process. 

 

The CMCOG – COATS MPO Public Participation Plan is intended to provide direction for public 

participation activities to be conducted by the CMCOG – COATS MPO and contains the policies, 

procedures, tools, and techniques used by CMCOG and the COATS MPO for public participation. 

CMCOG has been designated by the federal government to serve as the regional MPO for the COATS 

Transportation Program. CMCOG has also been designated by the state government as the Rural Planning 

Organization for the CMCOG Transportation Program. Please be advised that the Draft Public Participation 

Plan is open for 45-days for public review and comment. The plan can be downloaded from our website at 

www.centralmidlands.org. 

 

MOTION, approved  

Bob Liming moved, seconded by Bob Hall, to adopt the updated CMCOG-COATS MPO Public 

Participation. The motion was approved 

 

C5. Minor 208 Plan Amendment: Town of Lexington-Watergate WWTP and Services Area 

  

Greg Sprouse requested approval of a minor 208 plan amendment to recognize the Town of Lexington’s 

recent acquisition of the Blue Granite - Watergate WWTP and associated service area. The amendment will 

acknowledge the Town’s plans to eliminate the WWTP as described below, and change the 208 map to 

reflect the Town of Lexington as the service provider for this area. The CMCOG Environmental Planning 

Advisory Committee (EPAC) recommended approval of the amendment at their January 20, 2021 meeting. 

 

PROJECT JUSTIFICATION, SCOPE, AND TIMELINE 

The Town of Lexington and Blue Granite Water Company reached a settlement to transfer ownership of 

the Watergate Wastewater Treatment Facility that services approximately 1,100 customers in the Old 

Chapin Road area of Lexington County to the Town of Lexington. By agreement, the transfer is being 

accomplished pursuant to the Town’s exercise of its eminent domain authority and is part of the long-

standing regionalization plan embodied in the Central Midlands 208 Plan under the Clean Water Act of 

1972. The transfer of the Watergate facility was effective December 2, 2020. Acquiring the Watergate 

system was an integral part of over two decades of work to eliminate small sewer treatment facilities and 

incorporate them into Lexington’s regional system. The Town currently is completing an initial condition 

assessment of the system and is proceeding with the planning and engineering for the full incorporation of 

the Watergate system into the regional system and decommissioning of the Watergate plant. The current 

expectation is the plant will be decommissioned within approximately eighteen (18) to twenty-four (24) 

months. Significant investments in repairs and upgrades to pump stations and sewer lines will also likely be 

necessary and are expected to be included in the long-term capital improvements plan. 



 

 

There was a brief discussion. 

 

MOTION, approved  

Bob Liming moved, seconded by Todd Cullum, to approve the Minor 208 Plan Amendment: Town of 

Lexington-Watergate WWTP and Services Area. The motion was approved 

 

 

 

D. Announcements 

  

D1. MBLG Beautification of Regional Gateways Presentation 

Will Schenk with MBLG gave a presentation on the beautification of eight (8) Regional Gateways. Those 

gateways include:  

  

 Airport Blvd Gateway: One mile stretch beginning at I-26 & S.C 302 continuing to the Airport 

Expressway 

 Fort Jackson Gateway: I-77 & Forest Drive 

 Lexington Gateway: I-20 & U.S 1 

 Harbison Gateway: I-26 & Harbison Blvd. 

 Downtown Connector Gateway: I-20& S.C 277 

 I-20 & I-26 

 I-20 & I-77 

 I-77 & I-26 

 

This effort was a part of their Governmental Cooperation initiative, formally launched in May 2019 to 

encourage local governments to work together by focusing on regional projects that benefit all. Elected 

officials and top administrators participate on behalf of seven local governments, including Lexington 

County, Richland County, City of Columbia, City of Cayce, City of West Columbia, Town of Forest Acres 

and Town of Springdale. 

 

D2. Executive Directors Report  

  

 Ben Mauldin gave the following report: 

 February 17, 2021 at 3:00 pm, Dr. Ulrich will give a National and Regional Update. It will be via 

Zoom. 

 

 

 

E. OLD / NEW BUSINESS 

  

 No old/new business was brought forth.   

 

 

 



 

 

F. OTHER BUSINESS  

 

No other business was brought forth.  

 

 

G.  ADJOURN  

 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at approximately 1:07 p.m.  

 

 

The Board of Directors of the Central Midlands Council of Governments approved these minutes at its 

February 25, 2021 meeting.  

 

 

__________________________________    _________________________________ 

Benjamin J. Mauldin, Secretary-Treasurer    Steve MacDougall, Chairperson    



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:   All Members of the CMCOG Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Reginald Simmons, Deputy Executive Director/Transportation Director 
 
DATE:   February 25, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:  Draft Public Participation Plan 
 
 
REQUESTED ACTION 
The Central Midlands Council of Governments’ staff requests ratification of the approval to adopt the updated CMCOG 
– COATS MPO Public Participation Plan.   
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION 
The Central Midlands Council of Governments (CMCOG) is a public agency created by the Counties of Fairfield, 
Lexington, Newberry and Richland, and the cities of Batesburg/Leesville, Cayce, Columbia, Forest Acres, Irmo, 
Lexington, Newberry, Springdale, West Columbia, and Winnsboro, as enabled by state planning law.  The agency was 
organized in 1969 and has been providing planning, management and technical assistance to its member governments 
and local transit service providers since its inception.  CMCOG has been charged with responsibility for area-wide 
transportation planning since its inception and serves as the designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for 
transportation program/project purposes. 
 
The Columbia Area Transportation Study (COATS) Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) policy is to support 
and encourage public participation and to adhere to the principles of Environmental Justice in the metropolitan planning 
process. The MPO’s public participation policy is designed to ensure opportunities for the public to express its views on 
transportation issues and to become active participants in the decision-making process.  
 
The CMCOG – COATS MPO Public Participation Plan is intended to provide direction for public participation 
activities to be conducted by the CMCOG – COATS MPO and contains the policies, procedures, tools, and techniques 
used by CMCOG and the COATS MPO for public participation. CMCOG has been designated by the federal 
government to serve as the regional MPO for the COATS Transportation Program. CMCOG has also been designated 
by the state government as the Rural Planning Organization for the CMCOG Transportation Program.  Please be 
advised that the Draft Public Participation Plan is open for 45-days for public review and comment.  The plan can be 
downloaded from our website at www.centralmidlands.org.  
 
ATTACHMENT 
Draft Public Participation Plan 
 
 
 
 
E:\Silver Flash Drive 3-27-18\Board  Meeting Info\2021 Board Meetings\Public Participation Plan Cover Letter.doc 
 
 

Serving Local Governments in South Carolina's Midlands 
236 Stoneridge Drive, Columbia, SC 29210  (803) 376-5390  FAX (803) 376-5394  Web Site:  http://www.centralmidlands.org 



E:\Silver Flash Drive 3-27-18\Board  Meeting Info\2021 Board Meetings\Public Participation Plan Cover Letter.doc 

 
 

Page 2 
 
 
As part of the public comment period, CMCOG – COATS MPO has received three comments regarding the 
Public Participation Plan.  Those comments have been addressed as follows and have been highlighted in the 
plan for your review.   
 

1. CMCOG – COATS MPO have not identified any individual jurisdictions in this plan.  There 
identification is represented holistically by location within the boundaries of the CMCOG region 
and/or the COATS MPO Planning Area. 

 
 

2. Located on Page 8:  For the purposes of Federal Transit Administration (FTA) compliance 
regarding public participation, The Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority (The COMET) 
shall also follow the public participation process spelled out in this plan. 

 
All public notices as it related to The COMET that is required from this plan will be posted at 3613 
Lucius Road, Columbia, SC 29201 or available at www.CatchTheCOMET.org. 

 
 

3. Located on Page 11:  Policy 3:  Public meetings and/or hearings will normally be held with 
individuals physically located at a designated location as determined by the CMCOG – COATS 
MPO, but when such a meeting is inappropriate or not prudent due to a natural disaster, pandemic, or 
other circumstance affecting public health and safety as determined by the  CMCOG – COATS 
MPO, meetings and/or hearings maybe held through a virtual platform which allows the presence of 
the individuals attending and their participation in the discussion to be verified. 

 



  DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
DRAFT – Public Participation Plan  
Adopted by the CMCOG Board of Directors 
Adopted by the Columbia Area Transportation Study MPO Policy Committee  
 
              
  

  

 

   

Published by:  
Central Midlands Council of Governments  
236 Stoneridge Drive 
Columbia, SC  29210  

 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             2 |P a g e  
 

Central Midlands Council of Governments  
Columbia Area Transportation Study 
Metropolitan Planning Organization 

(CMCOG-COATS MPO)  
  

Statement of Purpose  
 

CMCOG – COATS MPO is a regional multi-county development agency, which, 
under the guidance of a public policy board, provides leadership, expertise, and 
services to communities, businesses, institutions, and residents.  CMCOG – COATS 
MPO seeks to enhance growth opportunities in an environmentally sensitive manner 
while retaining the region’s urban and rural character.  The organization is both a direct 
service provider and a link to other resources that can be applied to a wide range of 
community and economic needs.  CMCOG – COATS MPO is also an advocate for the 
interests of its communities at the state and federal levels.  

  
CMCOG – COATS MPO’s strengths include a public-based policy board representing   
public and private interests, a high level of staff expertise, a commitment to innovation, 
and the flexibility to respond to new opportunities and challenges.  

 
  

CMCOG-COATS Metropolitan Planning Organization  
Reginald Simmons, Deputy Executive Director/Transportation Director  

CMCOG-COATS MPO  
Transportation Planning  

236 Stoneridge Drive 
Columbia, SC 29210  

  
Phone: (803) 744-5133 

Email:  rsimmons@centralmidlands.org 
 

 

"The preparation of this report has been financed in part through grant[s] from the Federal Highway 
Administration and Federal Transit Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, under the State 
Planning and Research Program, Section 505 [or Metropolitan Planning Program, Section 104(f)] of Title 
23, U.S. Code.  The contents of this report do not necessarily reflect the official views or policy of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation. 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             3 |P a g e  
 

Central Midlands Council of Governments  
Columbia Area Transportation Study  
Metropolitan Planning Organization  

Public Participation Plan  
  

Table of Contents  
1.  Introduction ................................................................................................................ 4 

2.  Plan Overview ............................................................................................................. 7 

3.  Goals and Objectives .................................................................................................. 8 

4. Public Role in Decision Making ............................................................................... 13 

5. Public Participation Tools ........................................................................................ 20 

6. Public Participation Implementation & Documentation ....................................... 22 

7. Evaluating Public Participation Plan & Activities ................................................. 24 

Appendices ..................................................................................................................... 25 

Appendix A: Glossary, Acronyms and Some Common Transportation Terms ...... 26 

 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             4 |P a g e  
 

1.  Introduction  
It is a goal of the Central Midlands Council of Government (CMCOG), as the Regional Planning 
Organization (RPO) for the Central Midlands rural area and the Columbia Area Transportation 
Study Metropolitan Planning Organization (COATS MPO), as the designated Metropolitan 
Planning Organization for the Columbia urbanized metropolitan area, to provide citizens and 
interested parties with reasonable opportunities to participate in the metropolitan transportation 
planning process.  Beyond efforts to provide information to the public, this goal encompasses a 
wide range of strategies and activities to enable public involvement in a meaningful way in the 
CMCOG - COATS MPO’s decision-making process.  Ultimately, efforts to bring more voices and 
wide-ranging interests to the table will yield better planning results.  

The purpose of the Public Participation Plan is to provide all interested parties with reasonable 
opportunities to comment on the CMCOG - COATS MPO’s plans, programs, and projects.  The 
policies and practices described in the Public Participation Plan recognize the need for robust 
public involvement at all stages of regional planning.  This plan is intended to encourage, facilitate, 
and follow through on public comments, concerns and suggestions by establishing procedures for 
providing full public access to information and decisions, timely public notices, and early and 
continuing public involvement in plan development.  

The Public Participation Plan describes methods, strategies and desired outcomes for public 
participation. It addresses outreach to a broadly defined audience of interested parties and is a facet 
of the CMCOG - COATS MPO’s role of providing the region with a continuing, cooperative and 
collaborative transportation planning process.  

A. Consistency with Federal Requirements   

Several Federal and State laws and regulations guide the public participation efforts of the 
CMCOG – COATS MPO and ensure that input into its various planning and programming 
activities is received. Laws and legislation relevant to Public Participation Plan include:  

FIXING AMERICA’S SURFACE TRANSPORTATION (FAST) ACT  

The FAST Act was signed into law on December 4, 2015. The Act reauthorized the federal-aid 
highway program through fiscal year 2020, while consolidating the number of federal programs 
to focus resources on key national goals and reduce duplicative programs. The Act also emphasizes 
expedited project delivery. The FAST Act continues the previous transportation act’s commitment 
to public participation, directing Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPO) to have a public 
participation plan that provides people, “affected public agencies, representatives of public 
transportation employees, freight shippers, providers of freight transportation services, private 
providers of transportation, representatives of users of public transportation, representatives of 
users of pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation facilities, representatives of the disabled, 
and other interested parties with a reasonable opportunity to comment on the transportation plan.” 
The FAST Act directs MPO public participation plans to “be developed in consultation with all 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             5 |P a g e  
 

interested parties,” and “provide that all interested parties have reasonable opportunities to 
comment on the contents of the transportation plan.” It further directs MPOs “to the maximum 
extent practicable” to “hold any public meetings (in-person/virtually) at convenient and accessible 
locations and times,” to “employ visualization techniques to describe plans,” and to ‘‘make public 
information available in electronically accessible format and means, such as the World Wide Web, 
as appropriate to afford reasonable opportunity for consideration of public information.”  

TITLE VI OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964  

The Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 requires that transportation planning and programming 
be nondiscriminatory on the basis of race, color, and national origin. The federal statute was further 
clarified and supplemented by the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 and a series of federal 
statutes enacted in the 1990s relating to the concept of environmental justice. The fundamental 
principles of environmental justice include:  

• Avoiding, minimizing or mitigating disproportionately high and adverse health or 
environmental effects on minority and low-income populations.  

• Ensuring full and fair participation by all potentially affected communities in the 
transportation decision-making process.  

• Preventing the denial, reduction or significant delay in the receipt of benefits by minority 
populations and low-income communities.  

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990  

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) stipulates involving the community, 
particularly those with disabilities, in the development and improvement of services. CMCOG - 
COATS MPO fully complies with these requirements through its ADA plan and policies by 
making meeting room facilities accessible with wheelchair ramps, and restrooms that are 
wheelchair accessible. CMCOG - COATS MPO facilitates public participation in transportation 
activities by people with disabilities using the following guidelines:  

• Meetings, public hearings, and formal events are held in facilities accessible by persons 
with disabilities.  

• Public notices of meetings and events include a notice of accommodations for 
individuals who are disabled. Such accommodations will be provided by request.  

EXECUTIVE ORDERS  

An Executive Order is an order given by the President to federal agencies. As a recipient of federal 
revenues, CMCOG - COATS MPO assists federal transportation agencies in complying with these 
orders.  

I.  Executive Order 12898 - Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 
Populations and Low–Income Populations: In February 1994, President William Clinton signed 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             6 |P a g e  
 

Executive Order 12898, which requires that disproportionately high and adverse human health or 
environmental effects on minority and low-income populations be identified and addressed to 
achieve environmental justice. Since the establishment of Title VI, Environmental Justice has been 
considered in local, state, and federal transportation projects. Section 42.104 of Title VI and related 
statutes require Federal agencies to ensure that no person is excluded from participation in, denied 
the benefit of, or subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal 
financial assistance on the basis of race, color, and national origin.  

II. Executive Order 13166 - Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 
Proficiency (LEP): Executive Order 13166 requires Federal agencies to examine the services they 
provide, identify any need for services to those with limited English proficiency (LEP), and 
develop and implement a system to provide those services so LEP persons can have meaningful 
access to them. The Executive Order also requires that the Federal agencies work to ensure that 
recipients of Federal financial assistance provide meaningful access to their LEP applicants and 
beneficiaries.  

III. Executive Order 13175 - Consultation and Coordination with Tribal Governments: Executive 
Order 13175 states that “in formulating or implementing policies that have tribal implications, 
agencies shall establish regular and meaningful consultation and collaboration with tribal officials 
to reduce the imposition of unfunded mandates upon Indian tribes.” 

To seek the participation of all interested parties in this plan update, the CMCOG - COATS MPO 
held virtual meetings and distributed copies of the draft plan and information about the plan. 
People were informed of plan development by email, it was advertised in regional newspapers, 
and the draft was placed on the CMCOG - COATS MPO web site.  

The draft plan was available for public review and comment by all interested parties for 45 days, 
from January 6, 2021 to February 24, 2021.  A subsequent notice inviting agency comments was 
sent on January 6, 2021.  

B. Establishment and the Role of the CMCOG - COATS MPO  

Federal law requires that metropolitan areas of at least 50,000 population form Metropolitan 
Planning Organizations (MPO) to be responsible for planning regionally significant transportation 
projects to assure that long-range, multimodal transportation system needs are met.  Additionally, 
MPOs must show that transportation plans meet Clean Air Act requirements.  Following the 2010 
Census, the greater Columbia urbanized area continued to expand and grow in population that 
exceed 650,000. To fulfill the federal planning obligation, the CMCOG - COATS MPO has been 
hosted by the Central Midlands Council of Governments (CMCOG) as the region’s MPO since 
1969.  Subsequently, the CMCOG Board of Directors delegated responsibility for the COATS 
MPO policy functions to the COATS MPO Policy Committee.  CMCOG provides staff support 
for the COATS MPO.  



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             7 |P a g e  
 

2.  Plan Overview  
The Public Participation Plan is an adopted document of the Central Midlands Council of 
Governments and the Columbia Urbanized Area Transportation Study Metropolitan Planning 
Organization. It provides the policy framework for the role of the public in COATS MPO decision 
making and it describes activities through which public concerns and suggestions are solicited, 
how responses are formulated, and how final work products reflect public sentiments.  

The plan recognizes four key aspects of a meaningful public participation program that must be 
supported.  

• Inform – The public must be provided with ample opportunities to learn about activities, 
issues, and upcoming decision making.  

• Understand – The public must be given adequate, relevant and understandable 
information about an issue, including competing values, technical underpinnings, 
applicable standards and likely decision options.  

• Participate – Project scheduling must allow adequate time for the public to learn about 
an issue and prepare responses that can be incorporated into the decisionmaking process 
at a time when such comments can influence outcomes.  

• Respond – Subsequent planning steps must clearly demonstrate how public input 
influenced the final product or provide some other response to input received.  

The plan also recognizes that for any single project or planning activity there are likely to be several 
points at which the key activities described in this plan will need to be initiated.  For example, 
providing up-to-date information should be ongoing throughout a project.  And opportunities 
should be provided to periodically update the public, regardless of their level of familiarity with 
the project.  

The goals and policies contained in the plan ensure that the public is provided with opportunities 
to become informed, gain an understanding, and provide comment.  The CMCOG - COATS MPO 
intends for the public to have a say at all phases of rural & metropolitan planning— from 
identifying needs to evaluating and selecting projects. Through the goals, procedures and tools 
discussed in the plan, the CMCOG - COATS MPO intends to foster on-going, two-way 
communication between decision makers and the public so that decisions reflect and respond to 
public concerns, needs, and values.  

Activities the CMCOG - COATS MPO undertakes to foster public participation—some regularly 
scheduled activities, others special events that coincide with project milestones—are described in 
the plan section Public Role in Decision Making.  The section also describes the CMCOG - 
COATS MPO’s decision-making authority and outlines its processes and procedures.  The 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             8 |P a g e  
 

organization’s consistency with applicable regulations also is described, including its consistency 
with federal requirements for public participation contained in the FAST Act.  

The Public Participation Tools section describes various methods the CMCOG - COATS MPO 
uses to engage the public, how various methods can be employed, and the outcomes that can be 
expected are described.  Through the course of any single project, it is anticipated that more than 
one tool or activity will be used.  

The Public Participation Implementation Guidelines describes how public participation tools and 
methodologies are used in the context of the CMCOG - COATS MPO’s key tasks and 
responsibilities.  This section also provides a snapshot of the basic duties of the MPO in fulfilling 
regional transportation planning obligations.  

A list of commonly used transportation terms and acronyms relating to the metropolitan planning 
process is in Appendix A.  

For the purposes of Federal Transit Administration (FTA) compliance regarding public 
participation, The Central Midlands Regional Transit Authority (The COMET) shall also follow 
the public participation process spelled out in this plan. 

All public notices as it related to The COMET that is required from this plan will be posted at 3613 
Lucius Road, Columbia, SC 29201 or available at www.CatchTheCOMET.org. 

This plan is intended to provide the public with basic information about CMCOG - COATS MPO 
operations so that any interested parties can begin to consider how they may participate.  
Additionally, it is a tool for CMCOG - COATS MPO staff and can be a resource for member 
jurisdictions.  It sets basic standards and procedures for the CMCOG - COATS MPO to assure that 
the public has opportunities to participate in metropolitan planning in a meaningful way.  The plan 
describes numerous activities that may be undertaken to identify stakeholders, inform both the 
general public and targeted audiences, and elicit comments and ideas from the community.  It is 
not anticipated that all strategies would be effective in every situation.  Nor is a single activity or 
strategy likely to foster sufficient public awareness and participation.  Instead, this plan provides 
a menu of activities that can be combined to create a public involvement plan tailored to the scope 
and expectations of a plan, program, or project.  It also sets expectations for public participation 
in key CMCOG - COATS MPO activities. 

3.  Goals and Objectives  
To meet the federal standards continued under the FAST Act and improve transportation planning, 
the CMCOG - COATS MPO set the following goals and policies for public participation.  

Goal 1:  Opportunities shall be created for all segments of the public to be informed and 
understand about issues under consideration by the CMCOG - COATS MPO.  



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             9 |P a g e  
 

Reasonable access to complete information about transportation planning 
issues and events will be provided.  

Policy 1: A CMCOG - COATS MPO website will be maintained containing 
information on: schedules and agendas for upcoming meetings; various updates and 
news topics; plan, program, and study documents; and project applications and 
selection processes. Descriptions of program contact information and links to other 
organization’s websites will also be available. E-mail will be utilized and encouraged 
to allow comments on transportation planning related matters, including plan, 
program, and project development. The CMCOG - COATS MPO website address will 
be included in printed materials.   

Policy 2: All CMCOG - COATS MPO plans and documents shall be made available 
for the public to review at the CMCOG office and on the CMCOG - COATS MPO 
website (www.centralmidlands.org).  Copies of the Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP), Transportation Improvement Program (TIP), and other CMCOG - COATS 
MPO Plans shall be distributed by request. Copies of draft documents for public 
review and comment shall be provided to planning partners to allow public review of 
those documents at their offices.   

Policy 3: A Citizen’s Guide to Transportation Planning shall be created and 
periodically updated as a resource to the public. The Public Participation Plan outlines 
what strategies will be used by the CMCOG - COATS MPO to increase public 
participation, while the Citizen’s Guide provides an overview of the region’s 
transportation policies and strategies for becoming involved in the planning process.  

Policy 4: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will distribute project specific progress reports 
on significant MPO & RPO projects. Progress reports will aid in keeping those 
citizens that have shown an interest involved.  

Policy 5: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will publish summaries of several important 
documents, including the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP), Planning Work Program (PWP), and Air Quality 
Conformity Analysis. These summaries will be short and will be presented in a non-
technical way to make them more easily understood by the public.  

Policy 6: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will work with local media on an ongoing 
basis to ensure proactive coverage of transportation planning activities. Press releases 
may be issued on current project and programs.  

Policy 7: Whenever possible, CMCOG - COATS MPO will go directly to interested 
groups instead of asking people to come to public offices. Staff shall be available to 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             10 |P a g e  
 

attend community meetings to discuss current planning initiatives and to provide an 
overview of the transportation planning process.  

Policy 8: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will employ visualization techniques to 
convey plans, issues, and concerns.  These techniques may include maps, 
photographs, aerial photography, interactive tools, artist renderings and models to 
help analyze options, impacts and potential outcomes.  

Goal 2:  The public shall be provided timely notice on all transportation issues and 
processes.  

Policy 1: Advance notification will depend on the project and its timeline, but 30 days 
of notice will be given. The project work plan, with specific dates and timelines, will 
be published and sent to affected groups and interested citizens. Public notification 
will continue throughout the process, with emphasis on periods when input can have 
the greatest impact. The CMCOG - COATS MPO will provide adequate time for 
public review of draft documents prior to opportunities for comment or testimony. 
The length of comment period and review periods will vary based on the nature of the 
plan or program, but major plans or projects such as the RTP, TIP, PWP, and Air 
Quality Conformity will have at least a 30-day comment period, with amendments to 
these documents having at least a 21-day comment period.  

Policy 2: Notice and agendas of all meetings of the CMCOG - COATS MPO 
committees shall be made available on the website at least seven days before they 
occur. Notifications will be easy to understand and provide adequate information or 
indicate how additional information can be obtained. Accommodations will be made 
for those individuals with disabilities upon request.  

Policy 3: To the extent possible, notifications of citizen involvement opportunities 
will contain the following information: the purpose of a meeting or event, location 
and time, as well as information on public transit and a phone number where 
additional information can be obtained. The format for citizen involvement and the 
timeline for public comment on the project will also be included.  

Goal 3:  Provide the public with opportunities to participate in the transportation 
planning process.  

Policy 1: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will provide frequent opportunities for general 
public, interest groups, providers of transportation and others to participate in the 
transportation planning process, especially in the early stages of plan and project 
development, when such comment can have the greatest effect.  

Policy 2: The CMCOG - COATS MPO shall conduct public meeting and/or hearings 
prior to the adoption of each of the transportation plans and programs for which it is 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             11 |P a g e  
 

responsible and shall hold public forums and public meetings related to transportation 
planning initiatives and projects at appropriate times in the planning process. 
Whenever practicable, the CMCOG - COATS MPO will work to improve the format 
of public meetings and hearings to better facilitate the public involvement process. An 
agenda item will be included in regularly scheduled CMCOG - COATS MPO 
meetings to allow an opportunity for public comment.  

Policy 3:  Public meetings and/or hearings will normally be held with individuals 
physically located at a designated location as determined by the CMCOG – COATS 
MPO, but when such a meeting is inappropriate or not prudent due to a natural disaster, 
pandemic, or other circumstance affecting public health and safety as determined by the  
CMCOG – COATS MPO, meetings and/or hearings maybe held through a virtual 
platform which allows the presence of the individuals attending and their participation 
in the discussion to be verified. 

Policy 4: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will schedule meetings to allow the greatest 
opportunity for attendance by the public and interested groups, including evening, 
lunch, or weekend meetings when necessary.  

Policy 5: Planning initiatives shall be reviewed to determine the appropriate public 
involvement techniques, outreach activities and communication strategies. These 
tools will be tailored to the affected groups and interested residents whenever possible.  

Policy 6: Residents and other interested parties who have expressed interest in a 
particular topic, such as bicycle and pedestrian issues shall be included in the planning 
process. Task forces shall be convened at appropriate times in the planning process.  

Policy 7: Scientific surveys shall be conducted at appropriate times to produce 
statistically valid results identifying the desires of the region. This will be considered 
a tool that could be used to determine the preferred outcome of a plan or project and 
used accordingly.  

Policy 8: The CMCOG - COATS MPO shall continually work to identify new 
stakeholders interested in or affected by the transportation planning process. In 
accordance with the FAST Act, stakeholders shall include “citizens, affected public 
agencies, representatives of transportation agency employees, freight shippers, 
providers of freight transportation services, private providers of transportation, 
representatives of users of public transit, representatives of users of pedestrian 
walkways and bicycle transportation facilities, representatives of persons with 
disabilities, and other interested parties.”  

Policy 9: The CMCOG - COATS MPO staff and committees will consider public 
input, which may result in revisions to draft plans and programs, as an integral part of 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             12 |P a g e  
 

the planning process. Every attempt will be made to respond to public comment in a 
timely manner. Oral comments will be recorded at public meetings, and forms for 
written comments may be provided at all public meetings along with staff contact 
information.  A link on the website will be provided for public comments.  

Policy 10: A public involvement program may be prepared for each major 
transportation plan or project. Essential points in the plan will be identified and a 
proposed public involvement schedule will be shown. Major stakeholders for the plan 
will be identified and will be included in the public involvement process. Public 
involvement procedures for individual plans should follow the guidelines in this 
Public Participation Plan.  

Goal 4:       Identify and involve traditionally underserved communities, including  
communities of minority, low-income or elderly populations, in the 
transportation planning process.  
 
Policy 1: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will work to identify traditionally 
underserved populations within the region, including minority, low income and 
senior citizen populations. Outreach activities will be developed to involve 
stakeholders from these communities in the transportation planning process.  

Policy 2: Some meeting sites will be selected which are more easily accessible to 
traditionally underserved communities. Meeting announcements will be made on the 
website.  

Policy 3: Assistance shall be provided upon request to the hearing and visually 
impaired, those not fluent in English, or others requiring special assistance at all MPO 
meetings, hearings and workshops with proper advance notice. Public notices of these 
events shall notify the public of this opportunity. Meetings shall be held in ADA-
compliant venues.  

Policy 4: Meeting locations served by transit or accessible by means other than the 
automobile will be chosen whenever possible. 

Goal 5:  Public comments and concerns shall be considered as projects and plans are 
developed.  

Policy 1: The CMCOG - COATS MPO will gather and record public comment, 
making comments part of the permanent record for MPO & RPO projects and plans.  

Policy 2: A summary analysis or report on comments received and their disposition 
will be made a part of all Regional Transportation Plans and Transportation 
Improvement Programs.  



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                             13 |P a g e  
 

Policy 3: In instances when a final version of a Regional Transportation Plan or 
Transportation Improvement Program differs significantly from the draft version that 
was subject to public review, another opportunity for public comment will be 
provided.  

Policy 4: Summaries of responses to comments and any changes made as a result will 
be prepared and distributed at subsequent committee or public meetings and will be 
available on the CMCOG – COATS MPO website.   

4. Public Role in Decision Making  
A.  CMCOG - COATS MPO Decision-Making Authority  

In addition to the local government members, the South Carolina Department of Transportation, 
Federal Highway Administration, and Federal Transit Administration also participate in the MPO 
& RPO process.  
  
Federal and state transportation planning requirements of the CMCOG - COATS MPO can 
generally be summarized as follows:  
  
 Develop and maintain a Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and Transportation 

Improvement Program (TIP) consistent with state and federal planning requirements.  
 Perform regional air quality conformity analyses for carbon monoxide (CO) and 

particulate matter (PM2.5).  
 Review specific transportation and development proposals for consistency with the RTP.   
 Coordinate transportation decisions among local jurisdictions, state agencies and area 

transit operators.  
 Develop a bi-annual work program.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  14 | P a g e  
 

 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                           15 | P a g e  
 

B. COATS MPO Structure and Process  

The Columbia Area Transportation Study (COATS) is organized to facilitate and encourage maximum 
interaction between local, State and Federal agencies involved in the transportation decision-making 
process.  To accomplish this, a committee structure was adopted to include the following committees: 

Policy Committee 

The Policy Committee consists of the elected and appointed officials representing local and State 
governments and other organizations/agencies having an interest or responsibility in comprehensive 
transportation planning in the Columbia Metropolitan Area. The primary responsibility of the Policy 
Committee is to establish policies for the overall conduct of the COATS.  Policy Committee meetings are 
conducted on a monthly basis. 

Transportation Advisory Subcommittee 

The Transportation Advisory Subcommittee is responsible for making recommendations to the full Policy 
Committee regarding project priorities to be funded by various Federal Aid Highway Programs and 
included in the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  Transportation Advisory Subcommittee 
meetings are scheduled on a monthly basis. 

Technical Advisory Committee 

The Technical Advisory Committee, which is established by the Policy Committee, is composed of the 
professional/technical representatives from the member governments and public agencies having direct or 
indirect responsibility for transportation planning and/or implementation. Their primary responsibility is 
to monitor all technical activities including the development of a draft UPWP and TIP for recommendation 
to the Transportation Advisory Subcommittee. They also review and consider for recommendation to the 
Transportation Advisory Subcommittee all major studies and planning activities.  Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings are scheduled on a monthly basis. 

Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee is made up of Policy Committee members and provides oversight of 
transportation planning activities.  Executive Committee meetings are conducted on a monthly basis. 

Additional Committees 

An important element in the operation of the Policy Committee is the effective utilization of both formal 
and ad-hoc advisory committees to review and evaluate detailed transportation issues and results of 
planning activities.  The committee(s) function principally is to make recommendations to the Policy 
Committee on subjects directed to them by the Policy Committee which require extensive evaluation, 
which would be inefficient to resolve by the full committee.  Additional advisory committee meetings are 
scheduled on an as needed basis. 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                           16 | P a g e  
 

All COATS MPO committee meetings are public and may be announced by way of 
newspaper advertising, direct notice to stakeholders via mail and email, and web site 
postings.  Material for all committee meetings is posted on the web site 
(www.centralmidlands.org) and time for public comment is reserved for all committee 
meetings except the Policy Committee. 
  
The three standing committees maintain a regular meeting schedule, as noted in Table 1 below.   
  
  
Table 1:  COATS MPO Meeting Schedule  
 

Committee  Meeting Day  Date  

*Policy Committee  Fourth Thursday  Monthly  

Transportation Advisory 
Subcommittee (TAS) Second Thursday Monthly 

Technical Advisory 
Committee (TAC)  Fourth Tuesday  Monthly  

 

*Please note that the Policy Committee does not meet in the months of July and November. 

 

C. COATS MPO Committees, Committee Relationships  

The COATS MPO’s committee structure and its schedule of regular, public meetings help 
ensure that decision makers on the Policy Committee routinely hear from a broad base of 
stakeholders.  The COATS MPO organizational structure chart, on the following page, 
illustrates how the public may participate in decision-making.   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                           17 | P a g e  
 

Table 2:  COATS MPO Organizational Structure  
  

 
 
Please be advised that all committees, except the Executive Committee, are open to the public.  The Executive Committee and the 
Policy Committee are not open and available for public comment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MPO Policy Committee 

(CMCOG Board of Directors) 

(Meets Monthly) 

 

Transportation Subcommittee 

(Meets Monthly) 

Technical Committee 

(Meets Monthly) 

AD HOC Committees 
 

Bike/Ped Committee 
(Meets Bi-Monthly) 

Rail Transit Committee 
(Meets Quarterly) 

 

CMCOG Executive Committee 

(Meets Monthly) 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  18 | P a g e  
 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          19 | P a g e  
 

D.  CMCOG Structure and Process  

The Central Midlands Council of Governments (CMCOG) is organized to facilitate and encourage 
maximum interaction between local, State and Federal agencies involved in the transportation decision-
making process.  To accomplish this, a committee structure was adopted to include the following 
committees: 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors consists of the elected and appointed officials representing local and State 
governments and other organizations/agencies having an interest or responsibility in comprehensive 
transportation planning in the Central Midlands region. The primary responsibility of the Board of 
Directors is to establish policies for the overall conduct of the CMCOG.  Board of Directors meetings are 
conducted on a monthly basis. 

Rural Transportation Advisory Committee 

The Rural Transportation Advisory Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the full 
CMCOG Board of Directors regarding project priorities to be funded by various Federal and State Aid 
Highway Programs and included in the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  Rural Transportation 
Advisory Committee meetings are scheduled on an as needed basis. 

Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee is made up of Board of Directors members and provides oversight of 
transportation planning activities.  Executive Committee meetings are conducted on a monthly basis. 

All CMCOG committee meetings are public and may be announced by way of newspaper 
advertising, direct notice to stakeholders via mail and email, and web site postings.  
Materials for all committee meetings are posted on the web site 
(www.centralmidlands.org) and time for public comment is reserved for all committee 
meetings except the Board of Directors. 
  
The two standing committees maintain a regular meeting schedule, as noted in Table 1 below.   
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          20 | P a g e  
 

Table 1:  CMCOG Meeting Schedule  
 

Committee  Meeting Day  Date  

*CMCOG Board of Directors  Fourth Thursday  Monthly  

Rural Transportation 
Advisory Committee Minimum twice a year As Needed 

 

*Please note that the Board of Directors does not meet in the months of July and November. 

 
E.  Compliance with Guidelines  

The Public Participation Plan and the goals and policies that form its foundation are 
intended to ensure that the CMCOG - COATS MPO provides the public with opportunity 
to influence Policy Committee decisions.  The plan acknowledges that much of the 
CMCOG - COATS MPO’s decision making is based on policies and decisions made at the 
jurisdictional level.  Therefore, the CMCOG - COATS MPO supports local efforts to 
encourage public participation in local decision making.  In some instances, project 
planning at the regional level may be based in part on demonstration of local support.  
Local governments, in their transportation planning activities, are encouraged to be 
consistent with the CMCOG - COATS MPO Public Participation Implementation 
Guidelines in Section 6.  
  
The procedures outlined in this plan establish minimum standards for public participation.  
However, failure to exactly comply with the procedures contained in the plan shall not, in 
and of itself, render invalid any CMCOG - COATS MPO decisions or actions.  Any dispute 
arising from this plan will be resolved with a focus on the degree of compliance and the 
extent to which the CMCOG - COATS MPO’s actions met the intent of the goals and 
policies. If it is determined that the spirit of the goals is not met, the CMCOG - COATS 
MPO may conduct additional public involvement to ensure adequate public review.  
   
5. Public Participation Tools   
Through the course of any single project, it is anticipated that more than one tool or activity may be 
used.  
  
Web Site.  The CMCOG - COATS MPO web site, www.centralmidlands.org. is the 
organization’s principal means of communicating all its work to the public.  All meeting 
schedules and materials, including meeting minutes, are posted, as are drafts of all reports, 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          21 | P a g e  
 

research findings and publications, including the regional plan, TIP and work plan.  A tool 
on the site enables readers to directly contact staff.  Surveys, such as RTP planning process, 
are conducted on the web.  Staff continues to expand this site.  
  
Fact Sheets, Brochures.  These are typically single topic communication pieces that 
address a subject in depth for deeper public understanding.  They are often used at Open 
House sessions to provide participants with background for discussion and comment, and 
available in the public information display in the CMCOG lobby.  
   
Feedback Forms.  Simple, one-page questionnaires can elicit public attitudes about a 
variety of subjects.  These forms should be designed to include guided comments (direct 
questions to which the CMCOG - COATS MPO seeks comments) and open-end questions 
that encourage respondents to describe their concerns.  
 
Visualization Techniques.  As much as possible the CMCOG - COATS MPO should use maps, charts, 
photographs, aerial photography and interactive tools to engage the public.  Visual cues may tell the story 
more quickly than paragraphs of information, and can be used with written material to give the public a 
more thorough picture of an issue or debate.  Visualization techniques should be incorporated into other 
tools listed in this section whenever possible, i.e. photographic posters at open houses illustrating smart 
growth concepts, plan maps printed as fact sheets, and diagrams of possible improvements.  
  
Open Houses (Public Meetings/Virtual Meetings).  These informal sessions use 
visualization techniques to foster discussion and elicit comment from all segments of the 
community including agency staff, public and elected officials.  Open houses are held in 
conjunction with major planning studies.  They are widely advertised.  
  
Committee Meetings.  Efforts are made to schedule meetings of the three standing 
committees and ad hoc committees at convenient times and locations as determined in 
consultation with committee members. Meetings may be advertised in newspaper display 
ads and agendas are mailed to an interested-parties list.  Meeting materials are posted on 
the web site.    
  
Comment Periods. Legal Advertising.  Formal public comment periods are initiated for 
draft PWP, RTP, TIP and Air Quality Conformity Determination (AQCD), Public 
Participation Plan and major funding decisions.  All comment periods are 30 days, except 
for the Public Participation Plan’s 45-day review period, and 21-day review period for 
amendments to adopted plans and programs.  Public hearings and initiation of comment 
periods may be advertised in the Legal Notices section of the newspaper of record.  
Additional advertising may be purchased.  All comments received are retained in the 
project record.  



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          22 | P a g e  
 

Public Hearings.  The CMCOG - COATS MPO conducts public hearings for plan and program 
updates and other key funding decisions.  These hearing are conducted by request.    
  
Press Releases.  Project milestones and key opportunities for public input may be 
described in press releases sent to all news media in the region (print, radio, and television).  
  
Display Advertising.  Meetings and other key events can be announced in newspaper ads.  The 
CMCOG - COATS MPO attempts to obtain prominent placement in Sunday and other editions.  
  
Other tools.  Radio spots may be used to announce special events and opportunities for public 
participation  
 
Social Media.  The CMCOG - COATS MPO may utilize social media to increase engagement, 
promote public events, and build new relationships.   
   
6. Public Participation Implementation & Documentation  
The CMCOG - COATS MPO is responsible for coordinating a collaborative transportation 
planning process for the region.  All interested parties must be included, including those 
who are traditionally underserved by the transportation system and services.  This section 
of the plan addresses the core metropolitan & rural planning activities and responsibilities, 
focusing on how the public participates in their production.  
  
A.  MPO & RPO Work Products and Public Participation  
  
There are four core work products that an MPO & RPO is responsible for producing and 
keeping up to date on a regular schedule.  Those products and the public participation in 
each are discussed below.  
  

1) Urban/Rural Planning Work Programs (PWP).  Produced bi-annually, the 
PWP lists all planning tasks and studies the MPO will undertake during the year.  
Both CMCOG - COATS MPO standing committees discuss and propose 
planning tasks.  Staff conducts additional consultation with agencies and 
interested parties, as necessary.  The CMCOG - COATS MPO will hold a public 
hearing, by request, on the draft PWP after a 30-day comment period.  Fact 
sheets and other information may be produced by staff, as necessary.  A record 
of comments received, and responses is kept on file, reported to committees, 
posted on the web site, and may be incorporated into the final plan. 
  

2) Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).  Updated every four years, the RTP is a 
long-range (minimum 20-year) plan that contains the region’s goals and policies, 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          23 | P a g e  
 

projects, funding forecasts, strategies, and projected demands on the transportation 
system.  Advisory committees discuss the plan update over several meetings.  The 
CMCOG - COATS MPO will host open house sessions, a 30-day comment period 
and public hearing by request.  Comments received will be responded to and 
included in the final document.  The draft RTP, and supporting White Papers and 
other research, as needed, is posted on the website and mailed to interested parties.  
Open house meetings are advertised in the newspaper, on the website and by 
mailing to individuals and organizations on transportation mail lists.  Staff 
conducts outreach including community presentation.  The RTP and all major 
amendments are subject to a comment period (30-day for program adoption, 21-
day for major amendments)  

 
3) Urban/Rural Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  Updated every 

four years, the TIP is the short-range listing of financially constrained (funded) 
projects to be undertaken in the coming four years.  Projects in the TIP are 
incorporated into the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP).  
Public process for the TIP is the same as, and conducted concurrently with, the 
RTP update.  The TIP and all major amendments are subject to a comment period 
(30-day for program adoption, 21-day for major amendments). A record of 
comments received is kept on file with responses, reported to committees, posted 
on the website, and may be incorporated into the final plan.  

 
4) Air Quality Conformity Determination (AQCD).  The CMCOG - COATS 

MPO is required to show through the AQCD that both the RTP and the TIP 
conform to federal Clean Air Act standards.  The determination process is 
technical in nature, but the findings are subject to public review during the 
activities described above for the RTP and TIP.  A record of comments received 
will be kept on file with responses, reported to committees, posted on the website, 
and may be incorporated into the final plan.   

CMCOG - COATS MPO Public Participation Plan  

The Public Participation Plan is subject to periodic review, evaluation and updating.  The 
plan is maintained to meet federal requirements for public involvement in rural and 
metropolitan planning.  Furthermore, the CMCOG - COATS MPO covers a growing 
region where the public has demonstrated an interest in the state of transportation facilities 
and services.  CMCOG - COATS MPO staff shall periodically review the Public 
Participation Plan with an eye toward augmenting tools and procedures.  
  
Evaluation is an integral part of public involvement and is discussed in the section 
Evaluating Public Participation Plan & Activities.  Updates that follow an evaluation will 
be posted on the web site, review by the TAC, and publicly discussed to encourage both 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          24 | P a g e  
 

comments on proposed amendments and suggestions for additional amendments.  There 
will be a 45-day comment period prior to a final review by the Policy Committee (CMCOG 
Board of Directors).  Comments received will be responded to and included in the final 
document.  

7. Evaluating Public Participation Plan & Activities  
Federal Metropolitan Planning guidelines require a periodic review of the effectiveness of 
public involvement processes.  CMCOG - COATS MPO will review the public 
involvement process and activities to ensure that all interested parties, including 
transportation stakeholders and traditionally underserved groups, have opportunity to 
provide input.   

Evaluation is key to any plan update.  The evaluation should fit the activity.  It can be a 
debriefing at the staff level, identifying elements that worked well and developing 
improvements.  Evaluation questions should be incorporated into public comment forms 
distributed at events.  Also, surveys can be conducted to solicit input.  Surveys, like 
feedback forms, are a way to get evaluation feedback on either an event or an ongoing 
program from a targeted or randomly selected group.  Surveys can be conducted using a 
statistically valid method or can be more informal questions posed to gather a sounding 
from the public. Surveys may be conducted in person, online, by phone, by mail or email.   

A variety of sources may be used for evaluation, including:  
• Telephone comments;  
• Citizen letters;  
• Internet E-mail;  
• Newsletter questionnaires;  
• Questions and comments made in meetings, workshops and displays;  
• Focus group comments; and  
• Comments from advisory committees.  

Responses will be tracked demographically and geographically by zip code to ensure that 
target audiences are being contacted. If certain areas are found to be underserved, CMCOG 
- COATS MPO will target these areas for increased outreach to provide those citizens with 
opportunity to participate.  In addition, periodic surveys will provide a mechanism for 
measuring the effectiveness of the public involvement process.  

 
 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          25 | P a g e  
 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          26 | P a g e  
 

Appendix A: Glossary, Acronyms and Some Common 
Transportation Terms  
  
ADA American Disabilities Act of 1990 

AQCD   

  

Air Quality Conformity Determination: Finding based on analysis showing that plans, 
programs and projects comply with Clean Air Act standards.   

CMAQ   

  

Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality: The program is a federally funded program for 
surface transportation improvements designed to improve air quality and mitigate 
congestion.  

CO  

  

Carbon Monoxide:  A common air pollutant associated with gasoline internal combustion
engines  

FAST ACT 
  

Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act 

FHWA   
  

Federal Highway Administration  

FTA    
  
  

Federal Transit Administration  

MPO   

  

Metropolitan Planning Organization:  Required by federal law in urban areas over 
50,000 population, and designated by the governor, MPOs consist of local jurisdictions 
that collaborate to fulfill federal requirements for long- and short-range, regional, 
multimodal transportation planning.  

SCDOT  
  

South Carolina Department of Transportation  

PC  

  

Policy Committee: The COATS MPO’s decision making body; made up of member 
jurisdiction representatives.   

PM10  

  

Particulate Matter 10: Air Pollution (usually road dust or smoke) that is of a size of 10 
microns or less  

PM2.5  

  

Particulate Matter 2.5: Air Pollution (much smaller than road dust or smoke and often 
the result of internal combustion engines and) that is of a size of 2.5 microns or less  
 
 



DRAFT - Columbia Area Transportation Study Public Participation Plan 
 

 

Public Participation Plan – February 2021                                                                                          27 | P a g e  
 

PPP     Public Participation Plan  
 

 RTP   

  

 Regional Transportation Plan:  Long range, multimodal plan for regional 
transportation needs.   

STBG   

  

 Surface Transportation Block Grant Program:  Provides flexible funding for surface 
transportation needs.  

STIP  

  

 State Transportation Improvement Program: the statewide short-range, multi-modal 
list of all the State’s projects (including all of those associated with MPOs) for the 
upcoming four-year cycle  

TAC   

  

 Technical Advisory Committee:  COATS MPO committee of member jurisdictions’ 
planning and public works representatives; makes recommendations to the 
Transportation Subcommittee.  

TAS   

  

 Transportation Advisory Subcommittee:  COATS MPO committee of member 
jurisdictions’ representing a subset of the urbanized area; makes recommendations to the 
Policy Committee.  

TIP   

  

 Transportation Improvement Program:  Federally required, short-range multi-modal 
list of the region’s projects for the coming four years.  

TSP   

  

 Transportation System Plan: A state-required long-range plan for municipal 
multimodal transportation networks generally incorporated into comprehensive land use 
plans; must be consistent with the RTP and TIP.  

PWP   

  
  

 Planning Work Program:  Federally required plan for projects and studies to be 
undertaken by the MPO for the year.   

UZA  

  

 Urbanized Area: An area determined by the Bureau of Census to contain a population of
at least 50,000  

 
 
  
  
  
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report on Audit of Financial Statements 
 

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
 

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



Contents 
________ 

 
Page 

 
Independent Auditor's Report ....................................................................................................... 1 - 3 
Management's Discussion and Analysis ....................................................................................... 4 - 8 
Financial Statements: 
Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

Statement of Net Position ............................................................................................................ 9 
Statement of Activities .............................................................................................................. 10 

Fund Financial Statements 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds ....................................................................................... 11 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Balances to the Statement of 

Net Position ..................................................................................................................................... 12 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 

Governmental Funds ....................................................................................................................... 13 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 

In Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ........................................ 14 
Notes to the Financial Statements ...................................................................................... 15 - 41 

Required Supplementary Information: 
Schedule of the Council’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability ............................ 42 
Schedule of the Council’s Proportionate Share of the Net Other Postemployment 

Benefits Liability ............................................................................................................................. 43 
Schedule of the Council’s Contributions - Pension ................................................................... 44 
Schedule of the Council’s Contributions – Other Postemployment Benefits ............................ 45 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule: 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund ..................................................................... 46 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Aging Special Revenue Fund ............................................ 47 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Transportation Special Revenue Fund ............................... 48 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

         Special Revenue Fund ............................................................................................................ 49 
Single Audit Section: 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ..................................................... 50 and 51 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and 
on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance ............................. 52 - 54 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ................................................................ 55 and 56 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................57 and 58 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ...................................................................... 59 - 61 
Schedule of Prior Audit Findings .............................................................................................. 61 
Management’s Corrective Action Plan ................................................................................ 62-63 



  

 

 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
________ 

 
To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of Governments  
Columbia, South Carolina 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Central 
Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Council's basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
 

 
 



 

2  

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,  in  all  material  respects,  the 
respective  financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component unit, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Council as of June 30, 2020, and the 
respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 - 8, the budgetary comparison information on pages 46 - 49, and 
information concerning the Council’s retirement and OPEB plans on pages 42 - 45 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the  required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information  and 
comparing  the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Central Midlands Council of Governments' basic financial statements. The schedules, listed 
in the table of contents as other supplementary information, and the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain  additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and  other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other supplementary information, 
as listed in the table of contents, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in 
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 



 

3  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with  Government  Auditing  Standards,  we  have  also  issued  our  report  dated  February 
9,  2021,  on  our consideration of the Council's internal control over financial reporting and on our  tests  
of  its  compliance  with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Council's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Columbia, South Carolina  
February 9, 2021 
 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

4 
 

 
This discussion and analysis of the Central Midlands Council of Governments’ (“the Council”) financial performance 
provides an overview of the Council’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The MD&A should 
be read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the accompanying notes to those 
financial statements. The discussion and analysis includes comparative data for the prior year.  
 
The Central Midlands Regional Planning Council was organized under the provisions of Article 2, Act 487 of the 
1967 South Carolina General Assembly, as amended in 1971. On December 12, 1996, the name of the council was 
renamed, by the approval of the member governments and the governor, to Central Midlands Council of 
Governments.  In general, the Council has the power to carry on such planning activities and to develop such studies 
and programs related to aging, transportation, workforce innovations and other areas as it deems to be in the interest 
of the Central Midlands area, which includes Richland, Lexington, Fairfield and Newberry counties. 
 
Financial Highlights  
The following are key financial highlights for the fiscal year: 

 The net position of the Council was $(5,115,451) at the close of the most recent fiscal year.  
 As the close of the current fiscal year, the Council’s governmental funds reported an increase of $191,964 in 

the total fund balance with a combined ending fund balance of $1,167,257.   
 The increase in the fund balance was due to closely monitoring expenses and reducing expenses where 

possible. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
The financial statements for FY2020 include the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), government-
wide statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial statements, required supplemental information and 
other supplementary information. The statements are highly condensed and present a government-wide view of the 
Council’s finances. Within this view, all Council operations are categorized as governmental. Governmental activities 
include aging, community development block grants, transportation, workforce development, and general 
administration. The Council has a component unit, the Central Midlands Development Corporation. The Central 
Midlands Development Corporation is a separate entity with a separate governing board. For this overview, the 
Central Midlands Development Corporation is excluded from the Council’s financial statements. These government-
wide statements are designed to be more corporate-like in that all activities are consolidated into a total for the 
Council. 
 
Basic Financial Statements 

 The Statement of Net Position focuses on resources available for future operations. In simple terms, this 
statement presents a snapshot view of the assets the Council owns, the liabilities it owes and the net 
difference. The net difference is further separated into amounts restricted for specific purposes and 
unrestricted amounts.   

 The Statement of Activities focuses on gross and net costs of the Council’s programs. This statement 
summarizes and simplifies the user’s analysis to determine the extent to which programs are self-supporting 
and/or subsidized by general revenues. 

 Governmental fund statements follow the more traditional presentation of government financial statements. 
The Council’s major governmental funds are presented in their own columns and the remaining funds are 
combined into a column title “Non-major Governmental Funds”.  The relationship (or differences) between 
governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and 
governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements.  A budgetary comparison is presented for the 
general and major funds with a legally adopted budget. 

 The notes to the financial statements provide additional disclosures required by governmental accounting 
standards and provide information to assist the reader in understanding the Council’s financial condition. 
 

 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

5 
 

 
This  MD&A is intended to explain the significant changes in financial position and differences in operation between 
the current and prior years.  
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
A comparative condensed version of the Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2020, and June 30, 2019, follows: 
 
Net Position at Year-End 
Governmental Activities           FY2020             FY2019 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,009,467 $ 220,834 
Other Assets  2,354,646  3,650,215 
Capital Assets     514,525     517,634 
     Total Assets  3,878,637  4,388,683 
 
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions and OPEB  688,418     565,549 
 
Current Liabilities  1,659,879  2,377,786 
Long-Term Liabilities       6,638,018  6,446,484     
     Total Liabilities  8,297,897  8,824,270 
 
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions and OPEB     1,391,083     2,171,835 
 
Net Position: 
Invested in capital assets  514,525  517,634 
Unrestricted     ( 5,636,449 )    ( 6,559,507 ) 
     Total Net Deficit $  ( 5,121,924 ) $ ( 6,041,873 ) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents increased as a result of increased revenue in the transportation and aging programs.  Other 
assets decreased approximately $1.3 million primarily due to decreases in receivables as the result of fewer services 
being offered, primarily through the Council’s Workforce Innovation Opportunity ACT (“WIOA”) fund due to the 
impact of COVID-19.  Additionally, the Council’s current liabilities decreased approximately $718,000, primarily 
due to a decrease of payables related to the WOIA fund as a result of COVID-19. 
 
A comparative condensed version of the Statement of Activities follows: 
 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 
 
Revenue              FY2020             FY2019 
  Program Revenue $ 12,892,679 $ 12,062,837                
  General Revenue                                                
     Membership Dues  578,218  554,057 
     State Aid  70,407  70,407 
   Interest Income                                    239  326 
   Other Revenue                    88,612         60,125 
     Total Revenue   13,630,155  12.747,752 
   
  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

6 
 

 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 (continued) 
 
Expenses              FY2020             FY2019 
   Direct Personnel Costs  1,859,117  1,523,079                   
   Operations and Maintenance  794,532  799,775       
   Development and Training  27,281  30,075                            
   Travel and Transportation  61,685  64,859                                      
   Consulting Services  1,786,990  504,584 
   Payments to contractors        7,443,304            8,172,300 
   Other Program Expenses  699,998   418,425                    
   Unallocated Depreciation           37,299        32,655 
      Total   12,710,206  11,545,752 
 
Change in Net Position             919,949         1,202,000 
Beginning in Net Position              (6,041,873)              (7,243,873) 
Ending Net Position $   (5,121,924)           $ (6,041,873) 
 
During FY2020, consulting services were approximately $1.3 million higher than FY2019 as a result of additional 
programs specific to the Council’s Transportation fund activities.  Additionally, during FY2020, the Council’s 
payments to contractors decreased approximately $729,000 as a result of decreased activity in the WOIA fund. Other 
program expenses were approximately $282,000 higher in FY2020 than in FY2019 as a result of increased 
Transportation fund spending and additional Aging funding specific to COVID-19. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Council Funds 
Governmental Funds - The focus of the Council's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the Council's 
financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net 
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
Governmental Funds            FY2020               FY2019 
     Total Assets $ 3,916,202 $ 4,388,683 
  
Current Liabilities  2,563,454  2,377,786 
 
Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable for prepaid items  35,122  25,499 
Nonspendable for deposits  9,644  9,644 
Assigned for special purposes  235,030  235,030 
Unassigned  1,072,952       897,084 
     Total Fund Balances $     1,352,748  $     1,167,257  
 
Budgetary Highlights 
 
The Council adopts a balanced budget with budgeted expenditures equaling budgeted revenues. During the fiscal 
year, the Council revised the budget to adjust the estimates used to prepare the original budget.  This is routinely done 
each year to reflect changes in funding sources, which necessitate changes in expenditures.  The budgets are not 
legally adopted, however, the Council still elects to include budget to actual schedules in the supplementary 
information section of this report.   
 
  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

7 
 

 
Capital Assets 
At June 30, 2020, the COG had $514,525 in capital assets.  
                 
              FY2020               FY2019 
Land $ 130,848 $ 130,848 
Building  299,761  283,774 
Furniture and Equipment  83,916   103,012 
    Net Capital Assets $ 514,525 $ 517,634 
 
For more detailed information on capital asset activity, see Note 3 - Capital Assets. 
 
Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements 
The Council has an annual leave policy that permits employees to carry forward forty-five days of annual leave on 
January 1 of each year. At June 30, 2020, the accrued annual leave balance equates to $184,009. In the audited 
financial statements, the accrued annual leave balance is classified as current.  
 
The Council also has an unsecured line of credit with a local financial institution with a credit limit of $300,000.  The 
balance of the line of credit was $0 at June 30, 2020, and the Council did not access the line of credit during FY2020.   
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
During the FY2020, economic factors and potential new resources are as follows: 
 

 Management will implement appropriate policies and procedures to ensure financials are being accurately 
reported during the new fiscal year and make any necessary or required adjustments monthly for proper 
reporting. 

 
 Management will use Census 2020 population numbers to adjust membership dues once the official 

population numbers are released.  That adjustment may happen sometime during next fiscal year.   
 

 The Council is the Administrative and Fiscal Agent for the Midlands Workforce Development Board in 
support of the Workforce Innovation Opportunity ACT (WIOA) program for the Central Midlands Region.   
 

 The Council will continue to work with the Office of Economic Adjustment, Department of Defense 
Community Planning to implement the Joint Land Use Plans.   
 

 The Council operates two centers in the Central Midlands Region (Fairfield, Lexington and Richland 
counties) and continues to work for unemployed/under employed citizens to receive WIOA program benefits.   

 
 The Council will continue to provide planning and technical assistance to the counties and municipalities 

within the Central Midlands region.   
 

 The Council is currently working on the Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) and various other studies 
to address transportation issues throughout the region.   

 
 As a 501(c)3, the Central Midlands Development Corporation (CMDC) will continue to take a more active 

role in seeking grant and foundation funding opportunities. The CMDC will continue to function as the fiscal 
agent for the Midlands Food Alliance and continue to seek grant funding to support their regional food system 
planning efforts.  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

8 
 

 
 As always, the staff and Board of Directors will continue to seek alternative funding sources so that the 

Council can remain a viable resource for the member governments and communities that it serves. 
 
Requests for Financial Information 
 
This financial information is designed to provide a general overview of the Council’s finances for all those with an 
interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests 
for additional financial information should be addressed to: 
 
    Benjamin Mauldin, Executive Director, 
                                        Petula Hendley, Director of Financial Management and Support Services, or 
    Chanell Jackson, Finance Director 
    Central Midlands Council of Governments 
    236 Stoneridge Drive 
    Columbia, SC 29210 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

AS OF JUNE 30, 2020

 Governmental 
Activities 

 Component 
Unit 

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,009,467$       35,665$            
Due from Federal government 2,102,603         -                       
Due from State governemnt 67,630              -                       
Accounts receivable 139,647            -                       
Prepaid expenses 35,122              -                       
Security deposit 9,644                

Total current assets 3,364,113         35,665              

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable capital assets 130,848            -                       
Depreciable assets, net of accumulated depreciation 383,677            -                       

Total noncurrent assets 514,525            -                       

Total assets 3,878,638         35,665              

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred outflows related to pensions 366,210            -                       
Deferred outflows related to other postemployment benefits 322,208            -                       

Total deferred outflows of resources 688,418            -                       

LIABILITIES
Current liabilties:

Accounts payable 1,562,762         -                       
Accrued payroll liabilities 10,791              -                       
Accrued annual leave 86,326              -                       

Total current liabilities 1,659,879         -                       

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued annual leave 97,683              -                       
Net pension liability 3,391,082         -                       
Net other postemployment benefits liability 2,711,441         -                       
Unearned revenue 437,812            1,107                

Total noncurrent liabilities 6,638,018         1,107                

Total liabilities 8,297,897         1,107                

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pensions 1,013,942         -                       
Deferred inflows related to other postemployment benefits 377,141            -                       

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,391,083         -                       

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets 514,525            -                       
Unrestricted (5,636,449)        34,558              

Total net position (5,121,924)$      34,558$            

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 9



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 Program 
Revenues 

Functions/Programs  Expenses 

 Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions 
 Governmental 

Activities 
 Component 

Unit 
Governmental activities:

General administration -$                       348,241$           348,241$           -$                       
Program administration 13,002,648        12,886,168        (116,480)           -                         
Local planning assistance 50,860               1,572                 (49,288)             -                         

Total governmental activities 13,053,508$      13,235,981$      182,473             -                         

Component unit 6,159$               3,355$               (2,804)               

General revenues:
Membership dues 578,218             -                         
State aid 70,407               -                         
Interest income 239                    -                         
Other revenue 88,612               -                         

Total general revenue 737,476             -                         

Change in net position 919,949             (2,804)               

Net position, beginning of year (6,041,873)        37,362               

Net position, end of year (5,121,924)$      34,558$             

 Net Revenue (Expense) and 
Changes in Net Position 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 10



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020

 General  Aging  Transportation 

 Workforce 
Innovation and 

Opportunity Act 

 Non-major 
Governmental 

Funds  Total 
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,009,467$       -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,009,467$       
Due from Federal government -                       739,396            542,001            761,699            59,507              2,102,603         
Due from State government -                       67,630              -                       -                       -                       67,630              
Due from other funds 239,835            -                       -                       -                       312,254            552,089            
Accounts receivable 117,234            -                       -                       123                   22,290              139,647            
Prepaid expenses 24,211              2,835                -                       8,076                -                       35,122              
Security deposit 9,644                -                       -                       -                       -                       9,644                

Total assets 1,400,391$       809,861$          542,001$          769,898$          394,051$          3,916,202$       

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities

Accounts payable 47,643$            646,091$          338,363$          536,357$          5,099$              1,573,553$       
Unearned revenue -                       -                       -                       48,860              388,952            437,812            
Due to other funds -                       163,770            203,638            184,681            -                       552,089            

Total liabilities 47,643              809,861            542,001            769,898            394,051            2,563,454         

Fund Balances
Nonspendable for prepaid items 24,211              2,835                -                       8,076                -                       35,122              
Nonspendable for security deposit 9,644                -                       -                       -                       -                       9,644                
Assigned for special purposes 235,030            -                       -                       -                       -                       235,030            
Unassigned 1,083,863         (2,835)               -                       (8,076)               -                       1,072,952         

Total fund balances 1,352,748         -                       -                       -                       -                       1,352,748         

Total liabilities and fund balances 1,400,391$       809,861$          542,001$          769,898$          394,051$          3,916,202$       

Special Revenue Funds

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 11



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO THE 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are
  different because:

Fund balance of governmental funds 1,352,748$       

Capital assets, net of depreciation, are not current financial resources and are not 
  included in the governmental funds 514,525            

Net pension and OPEB liability is not due and payable in the current period and,
  therefore, is not reported in the funds:
    Net pension liability (3,391,082)        
    Net other postemployment benefits liability (2,711,441)        

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB are
  applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds
    Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 366,210            
    Deferred outflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits 322,208            
    Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (1,013,942)        
    Deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits (377,141)           

Long-term liabilities, including accrued annual leave, are not due and payable in the
  current period and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds (184,009)           

        Net Position of Governmental Activities (5,121,924)$      

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 12



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 General  Aging  Transportation 

 Workforce 
Innovation and 

Opportunity Act 

 Non-major 
Governmental 

Funds  Total 
Revenues:

Membership dues 578,218$          -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     578,218$          
State aid 70,407              -                       -                       -                       -                       70,407              
Federal revenue -                       3,756,527         2,305,316         5,298,722         176,803            11,537,368       
State revenue -                       1,111,168         -                       -                       -                       1,111,168         
Local revenue 4,939                -                       57,431              73,743              328                   136,441            
Interest income 239                   -                       -                       -                       -                       239                   
Other revenue -                       -                       -                       -                       88,612              88,612              

Total revenues 653,803            4,867,695         2,362,747         5,372,465         265,743            13,522,453       

Expenditures:
Direct personnel costs 1,170,314         501,060            261,014            422,755            133,850            2,488,993         
Indirect cost allocations (1,317,086)        545,889            251,438            391,031            128,728            -                       
Support services

Operations and maintenance 362,834            38,744              19,874              393,136            14,136              828,724            
Development and training 2,092                17,038              229                   6,722                1,200                27,281              
Travel and transportation 29,592              20,461              55                     11,209              368                   61,685              
Consulting services 1,530                1,600                1,739,917         65                     43,878              1,786,990         

Payments to contractors -                       3,263,456         -                       4,179,848         -                       7,443,304         
Other program expenses -                       481,458            217,283            1,306                (62)                    699,985            

Total expenditures 249,276            4,869,706         2,489,810         5,406,072         322,098            13,336,962       

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures 404,527            (2,011)               (127,063)           (33,607)             (56,355)             185,491            

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in -                       2,011                127,063            33,607              56,355              219,036            
Transfers out (219,036)           -                       -                       -                       -                       (219,036)           

Total other financing sources (uses) (219,036)           2,011                127,063            33,607              56,355              -                       

Net change in fund balance 185,491            -                       -                       -                       -                       185,491            

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,167,257         -                       -                       -                       -                       1,167,257         

Fund balance, end of year 1,352,748$       -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,352,748$       

Special Revenue Funds

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 13



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 185,491$           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities differ from the amounts
  in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in the Statement of
  Activities, the costs of those assets are allocated over the estimated useful lives as 
  depreciation expense, or are allocated to the appropriate functional expense when the cost is
  below the capitalization threshold.  These activities are reconciled below:
      Additions 34,190               
      Depreciation expense (37,299)             

Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures; however, in the Statement
  of Activities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee contributions is reported
  as pension expense.

      Council pension contributions 265,522$           
      Pension expense 510,723             776,245$           

Governmental funds report OPEB contributions as expenditures; however, in the Statement
  of Activities, the cost of OPEB benefits earned net of employee contributions is reported
  as OPEB expense.

      Council OPEB contributions 107,691$           
      OPEB expense (124,255)           (16,564)$           

Accrued annual leave is measured by the amounts earned during the year.  In the 
  governmental funds, however, expenditures for these items are measured by the amount of
  financial resources used (essentially, the amounts actually paid).  This year, the amounts
  used exceeded the amount accrued for annual leave. (22,114)             

        Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 919,949$           

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 14



 

15  

      

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting and reporting policies of the Central Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”) 
conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to 
governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies: 
 
Reporting Entity - The Central Midlands Regional Planning Council was organized under the provisions 
of Article 2, Act 487 of the 1967 South Carolina General Assembly, as amended in 1971. On December 
12, 1996, the name of the council was renamed, by the approval of the member governments and the 
governor, to Central Midlands Council of Governments. The Council does not have stockholders or equity 
holders and is not subject to income taxes. In general, the Council has the power to carry on such planning 
activities and to develop such studies and programs related to aging, transportation, workforce 
innovations and other areas as it deems to be in the interest of the Central Midlands area, which includes 
Richland, Lexington, Fairfield and Newberry counties. 
 
The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
consists of the primary government, organizations for which the primary government is financially 
accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the 
primary government are such that exclusion could cause the financial statements to be misleading or 
incomplete. Based on the following criteria, the Council has determined it is not a component unit of 
any other organization. Therefore, the Council reports as a primary entity. 
 
The primary entity is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing 
body including situations in which the voting majority consists of the primary entity's officials serving as 
required by law and (1) it is able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the 
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific  financial burdens on, the primary 
entity. The primary entity also may be financially accountable if  an  organization is fiscally dependent on 
it even if it does not appoint a voting majority of the board. An organization is fiscally dependent on the 
primary entity that holds one or more of the following powers: determine its budget without another 
government's having the authority to approve and modify that budget, levy taxes or set rates or charges 
without approval by another government, and issue bonded debt without approval by another government. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Unit - The Central Midlands Development Corporation (CMDC) is a 
legally separate entity with a separate board of directors. The CMDC is fiscally dependent on the Council. 
Central Midlands Development Corporation is considered to be a component unit of the Council and has 
been included as a discretely presented component unit. The component unit's year-end is June 30. 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

16  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounts of the Council are organized on the basis of governmental funds. The operations of each 
fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, 
fund equity, revenues, and expenditures. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for 
in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled. 
 
Government-wide Statements - The statement of net position and the statement of activities display 
information about the Council. These statements include the financial activities of the overall government, 
except for  fiduciary  activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the effect of internal activities 
upon revenues and expenses. Governmental activities generally are financed through intergovernmental 
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. 
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function of the Council’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically 
associated with a program or function, and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Program revenues include grants and contributions that are restricted  to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not program revenues are presented as 
general revenues. The effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
Fund Financial Statements - The fund financial statements provide information about the Council’s 
funds. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and fiduciary – are presented. The 
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds and aggregated non-major funds, 
each displayed in a separate column. 
 
The Council reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund - The General Fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all 
financial resources of the Council, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Aging Special Revenue Fund - The Aging Special Revenue fund is used to account for receipts 
and expenditures of money passed through the South Carolina Department on Aging. These funds are 
used to promote coordination of aging services in the region. 
 
The Transportation Special Revenue Fund - The Transportation Special Revenue Fund is used to 
account for receipts and expenditures of money passed through from the United States and South 
Carolina Departments of Transportation. These funds are used to provide region-wide transportation 
planning technical assistance to local governments and the Central Midlands Regional Transportation 
Authority. 
 
 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

17  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Special Revenue Fund - The Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the receipts and 
expenditures of money passed from the United States Department of Labor to the South Carolina 
Department of Employment and Workforce to provide workforce investment activities that increase 
employment, retention, earnings, and skills of participants. 
 
Additionally, the Council reports the following fund type: 
 
The Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds - The Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds are operating funds 
used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted for specific 
purposes. 
 
Basis of Accounting: 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide and fiduciary fund financial statements 
are reported using the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis, revenues are recognized 
when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred, regardless of when the 
related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the Council gives (or receives) value 
without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include grants and donations. Revenue from 
grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been 
satisfied. 
 
Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and  modified 
accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available 
to finance expenditures of the current period. Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received in cash, 
except that revenues subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year end) are recognized when due. The 
primary sources susceptible to accrual are investment income and grant revenue. 
 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for claims and judgments and 
compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General 
capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Payments of general long-
term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing uses. Funds received but not 
yet earned are reflected as unearned revenues. 
 
Component Unit – The Central Midlands Development Corporation financial statements are reported 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are 
recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows.   
 
Use of resources - When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Council’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

18  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Basis of Accounting (continued): 
 
Budget - As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
Council adopted a legal budget for the June 30, 2019, general resources and the related expenditures 
required to earn those resources. The budget is adopted and amended, as considered necessary, by 
approval from the Board of Directors and/or Executive Committee. 
 
The Council adopts an annual legal budget, which covers the General fund and certain Special Revenue 
Funds. The budgets for the General Fund and certain Special Revenue Funds are prepared on the 
modified accrual basis. The statements comparing budgets and actual amounts for these governmental 
funds include adjustments to those budgetary bases for the differences noted above and for certain other 
items which are reported in the Council's budget differently than they are reported for accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. Budgetary level of control is exercised at the 
department level. Any revisions that alter total expenditures of the General Fund and certain Special 
Revenue Funds must be approved by the Board of Directors. During fiscal year 2019, the Council did 
approve budgetary expenditure amendments. 
 
The Budgetary Comparison Schedules included in the required supplementary information presents a 
comparison of budgetary data to actual results of operations for the General Fund and major Special 
Revenue Funds (Aging, Transportation, and Workforce Investment and Opportunity Act), for which an 
annual operating budget is legally adopted. These funds utilize the same basis of accounting for both 
budgetary purposes and actual results. 
 
The Executive Director and all program directors and managers receive interim financial reports. 
Progress reports on the Council’s budgetary and fiscal status are submitted to the Board of Directors 
quarterly. Significant variations are explained. Problem areas and the probable solutions are identified. 
All actual revenues and expenditures over final budget amounts for the general fund and each special 
revenue funds are funded by overages of other accounts within the fund. Overages in total in the special 
revenue funds will be covered by the transfers from the general fund. 
 
When the Executive Director determines that it is necessary to amend the budget, the amended budget 
is taken to the Executive Committee for approval. Revisions may be considered to reflect: 
 

(1) changes made by the addition of new grant awards not anticipated in preparing the initial 
budget; (2) additional costs incurred as a result of increased work activities; or (3) unanticipated 
costs which have occurred beyond normal operating control. 

 
The Aging, Transportation, and Workforce Investment and Opportunity Act Special Revenue Funds 
have separate legally adopted budgets. 
 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

19  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Basis of Accounting (continued):  
 
Indirect Cost Allocation - Cost allocations made by the council are in accordance with the guidelines 
of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Subpart E – Cost Principles. These 
guidelines provide that allowable indirect costs are identified and accumulated in an indirect cost pool 
and distributed to applicable federal, state and local grant activities and programs based upon an 
appropriate actual indirect cost allocation methodology. Certain employee benefits are accumulated in 
a fringe benefit cost pool and allocated to grant projects as a percentage of labor costs, referred to as 
release time. In accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Subpart E 
– Cost Principles, the cost allocations are subject to subsequent federal audit or review. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Council maintains cash and pooled investments that are available 
for use by all funds. Cash includes cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from the Federal government, 
state and local governments or private sources, in connection with reimbursement of allowable 
expenditures made pursuant to the Council’s grants and contracts. 
 
Prepaid Items - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements using the consumption 
method.  An asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of the purchase and an expenditure/expense 
is reported in the year which services are consumed. 
 
Capital Assets - The Council accounts for capital asset purchases by recording acquisitions at cost or 
estimated historical cost. Donated assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date of 
donation. The Council capitalizes moveable personal property with a unit value in excess of $1,500 and a 
useful life in excess of one year. Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to expenses in the year in 
which the expense was incurred. Capital assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method of depreciation. Useful lives of the Council's capital assets are as follows: 
 

Buildings and improvements 15-40 years  
Equipment  3-10 years 

 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will 
sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until then. The Council has 
two items that qualify for reporting in this category for inflows related to pensions and other 
postemployment benefits (OPEB). The inflows related to pensions are described in Notes 9 and 10. 
 
Deferred outflows of resources represent consumption of net position that is applicable to a future 
period. Changes in net pension and net OPEB liabilities not included in expenses are reported as 
deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources. Employer contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date of the net pension and net OPEB liabilities are reported as deferred outflows of 
resources. 
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

20  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Unearned Revenues - Unearned revenues in the governmental funds include amounts received from 
grant and contract sponsors that have not yet been earned due to being in advance of meeting eligibility 
requirements. 
 
Accrued Annual Leave - All vested annual leave pay is recorded as an expenditure in the current year 
to the extent it is paid during the year. Council employees can accumulate annual leave up to forty-five 
days for subsequent use or for payment upon termination, death or retirement. Any days beyond that 
limit accrued and not taken by the end of the calendar year are forfeited. 
 
Deferred Compensation Agreement - The Council offers its employees a voluntary deferred 
compensation plan structured and operated according to provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 457. 
The plan is administered by an agency of the State of South Carolina and the Council makes no 
contributions on behalf of the participants. The Council's liability is limited to remitting amounts deferred 
and withheld from the employee's wages to  the Plan administrator. 
 
Operating Transfers - Operating transfers are distributions of local cash resources to grant projects 
requiring local cash match in accordance with the terms and conditions of grant contracts and or to absorb 
any deficit in any grant project. Local funds are derived from Council dues paid by member 
governments, state  aid funds, sale of data and information, internet advertising and internet web hosting. 
 
Interfund Receivables and Payables - During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur 
between individual funds for goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are 
classified as "due from other funds" or "due to other funds" on the governmental funds balance sheet. 
 
Pensions - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and additions to/deductions from SCRS’s 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SCRS. For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due  and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“OPEB”) - For purposes of measuring the net 
OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and 
OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the South Carolina Retiree Health 
Insurance Trust Fund (SCRHITF) and additions to/deductions from the SCRHITF’s fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the accrual basis of accounting as they  are reported by the SCRHITF in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). For this purpose, revenues are 
recognized when earned and expenses and benefits are recognized when incurred. Claims liabilities are 
reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

21  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Non-exchange Transactions - The Council generally has two types of non-exchange transactions, 
government-mandated non- exchange transactions (which occur when a government at one level 
provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use the resources for 
a specific purpose) and voluntary non-exchange transactions (which result from legislative or 
contractual agreements other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement). 
The Council recognizes non-exchange transactions when they are both measurable and probable for 
collection. For government-mandated non-exchange transactions and voluntary non-exchange 
transactions, the Council recognized assets when all applicable eligibility requirements are met, or 
resources are received, whichever is first, and revenue when all applicable eligibility requirements are 
met. 
 
Net Position - The Council’s net position in the government-wide financial statements are classified 
as follows: 
 

Net investment in capital assets:  This represents the Council’s total investment in capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation. 
 
Restricted net position:  This category represents resources in which the Council is legally or 
contractually obligated by external parties such as lenders, grantors, contributors or by laws or 
regulations to spend in accordance with the restrictions imposed. 
 
Unrestricted net position:  Unrestricted net position consist of all other assets not included in the 
above categories. 
 

The Council’s policy for applying expenses that can use both restricted and unrestricted resources is 
designated to the program administrative level. General practice is to first apply the expense to the 
restricted resource then to unrestricted resources. 
 
Fund Balances - In the governmental fund financial statements, the Council’s fund balances are 
classified as follows: 
 

Nonspendable fund balance - Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) 
not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in 
spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash, for example, 
inventories and prepaid amounts. 
 
Restricted fund balance - Represents amounts that are (a) externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) are imposed by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed fund balance - Represents amounts that can only be used by for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-
making authority. 
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

22  

Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fund Balances (Continued): 
 

Assigned fund balance - Amounts are constrained by the government’s intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. 

 
Unassigned fund balance - Represents the fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds 
and that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general 
fund. The Council reports positive unassigned fund balance only in the General Fund. For all other 
funds, deficits in Fund balance at year-end are reported as unassigned. 

 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance 
classifications could be used, the Council’s general practice is to first reduce committed resources, 
followed by assigned resources, and then unassigned resources. 
 
Income Taxes - The Council is excluded from Federal income taxes under Section 115(1) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. 
 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Note 2.  Cash and Investments 
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Observable inputs are 
developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available about the assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing the asset. The classification of securities within the fair value 
hierarchy is based upon the activity level in the market for the security type and the inputs used to 
determine their fair value, as follows: 
 

Level 1 - unadjusted price quotations in active markets/exchanges for identical assets or liabilities 
that each Fund has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 - other observable inputs (including, but not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in 
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets and 
liabilities (such as interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, loss severities, credit risks and default 
rates) or other market-corroborated inputs). 

 

  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

23  

Note 2.  Cash and Cash Investments (continued) 
 

Level 3 - unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the 
extent observable inputs are not available (including each Fund’s  own  assumptions used in 
determining the fair value of investments). 

 
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 
measurements). Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised in determining fair value is greatest for 
instruments categorized in Level 3. The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purposes, the fair value hierarchy classification 
is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. 
 
The Council maintains a cash and cash equivalent investment pool that is available for use by all funds. 
Each fund portion of this pool is shown on the balance sheet as pooled cash and cash equivalents. 
Transfers from the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) are made at the request of the Council. 
 
Individual funds may maintain cash and cash equivalents separate from the pool for convenience and 
control. Petty cash and working funds are maintained for nonrecurring incidental purchases. Such 
holdings are shown on the governmental balance sheet as non-pooled cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Investments with maturities greater than three (3) months are shown on the balance sheet by fund type 
as investments. 
 
Total cash and investments at June 30, 2020, consists of the following: 
 

Demand deposits  $ 995,668 
Cash on hand  40 
LGIP  13,759 

Total cash and investments  $ 1,009,467 

Deposits with financial institutions include bank demand deposits. 
 
Credit Risk - South Carolina statutes authorize investments in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, 
repurchase agreements, the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, obligations of the U.S. 
Government and government agencies unconditionally guaranteed by the U.S. Government. The Council 
has no investment policy that would further restrict its choices. 
 
At June 30, 2020, the Council’s investments were rated as follows: 
 

Investment Type  Classification  Total 
SC Local Government Investment Pool  Level 2  $ 13,759 

 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

24  

Note 2.  Cash and Cash Investments (continued) 
 
Credit Risk (continued) - The local government investment pool is a 2a7-like pool which is not 
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investment company, but has a 
policy that it will operate in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company 
Act of 1940. The Pool is included as an investment trust fund in the State of South Carolina 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. At June 30, 2019, the underlying security ratings of the 
Council's investment in  the LGIP is classified in risk category “A” and may be obtained from the 
LGIP's complete financial statements by writing to the following address: 
 

Office of the State Treasurer 
Local Government Investment 
Pool Post Office Box 11778 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 

 
Interest Rate Risk - In accordance with its investment policy, the Council manages its exposure to 
declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio to less than 
twelve months. 
 
It is the policy of the State Treasurer’s Office that no derivatives of the U.S. Government Securities or 
Federal Agency Securities or A1/P1 Commercial Paper be purchased by or for the LGIP. It is the policy 
of the State Treasurer’s Office that the weighted average maturity (WAM) of the LGIP portfolio not 
exceed 60 days. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Council’s 
cash equivalents and deposits may not be returned to the Council. At year-end, the Council’s net carrying 
amount of deposits was $1,009,467 and the bank balance was $1,025,764.  Cash on deposit in excess 
of FDIC insured limits totaled $775,764 at June 30, 2020. 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the Council held the following investments: 
 

Investment Type  
Balance Sheet 
Classification  

Carrying 
Value  

% of 
Investment 
Portfolio 

SC Local Government Investment Pool  Cash and Equivalents  $ 13,759  100% 
 
Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Council does not maintain deposits that are 
denominated in a currency other than the United States dollar; therefore, the Council is not exposed to 
this risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk - The Council’s investment policy does not allow for an investment in 
any one issuer that is in excess of 5 percent (5%) investments, when needed. 
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

25  

Note 3.  Capital Assets 
 
The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2020: 
 

  
Beginning 
Balance       

Ending 
Balance 

  July 1, 2019  Increases  Decreases  June 30, 2020 
Governmental Activities:        
Capital assets, not being depreciated:        

Land $ 130,848  $ -  $ -  $ 130,848 
Capital assets, being depreciated:        

Building  691,834   34,190   -   726,024 
Equipment and furniture 378,840  -  -  378,840 

Total capital assets being depreciated 1,070,674  34,190  -   1,104,864 
Less accumulated depreciation for:        

Building (408,060)  (18,203)  -  (426,263) 
Equipment and furniture (275,828)  (19,096)  -  (294,924) 

Total accumulated depreciation (683,888)  (37,299)  -  (721,187) 

Total capital assets, net $ 517,634  $ (3,109)  $ -  $ 514,525 

 
Depreciation expense of $37,299 was unallocated in the primary government. 
 
Note 4.  Long-Term Liabilities 
 
A summary of changes in long-term liabilities is as follows: 
 

   
June 30, 2019 

  
Additions 

  
Reductions 

  
June 30, 2020 

 Due within 
one year 

  Accrued annual leave  $          161,895  $       108,440  $  (86,326)  $ 184,009  $ 86,326 
  Net pension liability  3,385,630  5,452  -  3,391,082  - 
  Net OPEB liability  2,572,953  138,488  -  2,711,441  - 

         Total  $       6,120,478  $       252,380  $ (86,326)  $ 6,286,532  $ 86,326 

 
For the governmental activities, compensated absences, net pension liability, and net OPEB liability 
are generally liquidated by the General Fund. 
 

Note 5.  Short-Term Note Payable – Line-of-Credit 
 
The Council has an unsecured line-of-credit for $300,000 with a maturity date of January 25, 2021. 
The line-of-credit is a variable rate nondisclosable revolving line of credit. The purpose of obtaining 
the line-of-credit is to meet any current obligations. The interest rate on the line-of-credit is the lender’s 
prime rate plus 1.25%, with an interest floor of 5.0% and with an interest rate ceiling of 18.0%. The 
Council did not used the credit line during fiscal year 2020. There is $0 outstanding on the line-of-
credit at June 30, 2020, and no interest was paid during the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 

 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

26  

Note 6.  Leases 
 
The Council leases facilities and equipment under several operating leases maturing between 
December, 2020 and July, 2025. Future minimum lease payments are as follows for the years ending 
June 30,: 
 

2021  $ 199,782 
2022  192,163 
2023  143,185 
2024  115,224 
2025  26,388 

Total  $ 676,742 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Council paid $184,946 under operating leases. 
 
Note 7.  Related Party Transactions 
 
Member Local Government Dues - All member governments are required to pay dues to the Council. 
Dues are determined annually and are recognized as revenues when assessed because they are 
measurable and are collectible within the current period. Dues for the year were $578,218. 
 

Note 8.  Contingencies 
 
The Council is party to various lawsuits arising out of the normal conduct of its operations. In the 
opinion of the Council’s management, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material 
adverse effect of the Council’s financial position. 
 
The Council participates in certain federal and state grant programs. These programs are subject to 
financial and compliance audits by the grantor or its representative. Such audits could lead to requests 
for reimbursement to the grantor agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grant. 
Management believes disallowances, if any, will not be material. 
 
Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan 
 
The South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (“PEBA”), created July 1, 2012, is the state 
agency responsible for the administration and management of the various Retirement Systems and 
retirement programs of the state of South Carolina, including the State Optional Retirement Program 
and the S.C. Deferred Compensation Program, as well as the state’s employee insurance programs. As 
such, PEBA is responsible for administering the South Carolina Retirement Systems’ five defined 
benefit pension plans. PEBA has an 11-member Board of Directors, appointed by the Governor and 
General Assembly leadership, which serves as custodian, co-trustee and co-fiduciary of the Systems 
and the assets of the retirement trust funds. The Retirement System Investment Commission 
(“Commission” as the governing body, “RSIC” as the agency), created by the General Assembly in 
2005, has exclusive authority to invest and manage the retirement trust funds’ assets. The Commission, 
an eight-member board, serves as co-trustee and co-fiduciary for the assets of the retirement trust funds. 
By law, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority (“SFAA”), which consists of five elected officials, 
also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions regarding the actuary of the Systems.   
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

27  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Systems and 
additions to/deductions from the Systems fiduciary net position have been determined on the accrual 
basis of accounting as they are reported by the Systems in accordance with GAAP. For this purpose, 
revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Benefit and refund 
expenses are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 
 
PEBA issues a CAFR containing financial statements and required supplementary information for the 
Systems’ Pension Trust Funds. The CAFR is publicly available through the Retirement Benefits’ link 
on PEBA’s website at www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, 
202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 29223. PEBA is considered a division of the primary government 
of the state of South Carolina and therefore, retirement trust fund financial information is also included 
in the comprehensive annual financial report of the state. 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
• The South Carolina Retirement System (“SCRS”), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan, was established effective July 1, 1945, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-1-20 of 
the South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits 
for teachers and employees of the state and its political subdivisions.  SCRS covers employees of state 
agencies, public school districts, higher education institutions, other participating local subdivisions of 
government and individuals newly elected to the South Carolina General Assembly at or after the 2012 
general election. 
 
• The State Optional Retirement Program (State ORP) is a defined contribution plan that is offered as 
an alternative to SCRS to certain newly hired employees of state agencies, institutions of higher 
education, public school districts and individuals first elected to the S.C. General Assembly at or after 
the general election in November 2012. State ORP participants direct the investment of their funds into 
an account administered by one of four third party service providers. PEBA assumes no liability for 
State ORP benefits. Rather, the benefits are the liability of the four third party service providers. For 
this reason, State ORP assets are not part of the retirement systems’ trust funds for financial statement 
purposes. 
 
• The Fund does not have employees that participate in the Police Officers Retirement System 
(“PORS”).  
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

28  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Membership 

 
Membership requirements are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. A brief 
summary of the requirements under each system is presented below. 

 
• SCRS - Generally, all employees of covered employers are required to participate in and contribute 
to the system as a condition of employment. This plan covers general employees, teachers, and 
individuals newly elected to the South Carolina General Assembly beginning with the November 2012 
general election. An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership prior to 
July 1, 2012, is a Class Two member. An employee member of the system with an effective date of 
membership on or after July 1, 2012, is a Class Three member. 

 
• State ORP - As an alternative to membership in SCRS, newly hired state, public school, and higher 
education employees and individuals newly elected to the S.C. General Assembly at or after the 
November 2012 general election have the option to participate in the State ORP. Contributions to the 
State ORP are at the same rates as SCRS. A direct remittance is required from the employer to the 
member’s account with the ORP vendor for the employee contribution and a portion of the employer 
contribution (5 percent). A direct remittance is also required to SCRS for the remaining portion of the 
employer contribution and an incidental death benefit contribution, if applicable, which is retained by 
SCRS. 
 
Benefits 

 
Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. PEBA does not have the 
authority to establish or amend benefit terms without a legislative change in the code of laws. Key 
elements of the benefit calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service, and average final 
compensation/current annual salary. A brief summary of the benefit terms for each system is presented 
below. 

 
• SCRS - A Class Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years of 
earned service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 years credited service regardless 
of age. A member may elect early retirement with reduced pension benefits payable at age 55 with 25 
years of service credit. A Class Three member who has separated from service with at least eight or 
more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension upon satisfying the Rule of 90 
requirement that the total of the member’s age and the member’s creditable service equals at least 90 
years. Both Class Two and Class Three members are eligible to receive a reduced deferred annuity at 
age 60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year earned service requirement, respectively. An incidental 
death benefit is also available to beneficiaries of active and retired members of employers who 
participate in the death benefit program.  
 
The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the 
lesser of one percent or five hundred dollars every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit 
on July 1 of the preceding year are eligible to receive the increase. Members who retire under the early 
retirement provisions at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible for the benefit adjustment until 
the second July 1 after reaching age 60 or the second July 1 after the date they would have had 28 years 
of service credit had they not retired. 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

29  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Contributions 
 
Actuarial valuations are performed annually by an external consulting actuary to ensure applicable 
contribution rates satisfy the funding parameters specified in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of 
Laws. Under these provisions, SCRS and PORS contribution requirements must be sufficient to 
maintain an amortization period for the financing of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL”) 
over a period that does not exceed the number of years scheduled in state statute. Legislation in 2017 
increased, but also established a ceiling for SCRS and PORS employee contribution rates. Effective 
July 1, 2017, employee rates were increased to a capped rate of 9.00 percent for SCRS and 9.75 percent 
for PORS. The legislation also increased employer contribution rates beginning July 1, 2017 for both 
SCRS and PORS by two percentage points and further scheduled employer contribution rates to 
increase by a minimum of one percentage point each year through July 1, 2022. If the scheduled 
contributions are not sufficient to meet the funding periods set in state statute, the board shall increase 
the employer contribution rates as necessary to meet the funding periods set for the applicable year. 
The maximum funding period of SCRS and PORS is scheduled to be reduced over a ten-year schedule 
from 30 years beginning fiscal year 2018 to 20 years by fiscal year 2028. 
 
Additionally, the Board is prohibited from decreasing the SCRS and PORS contribution rates until the 
funded ratio is at least 85 percent. If the most recent annual actuarial valuation of the Systems for 
funding purposes shows a ratio of the actuarial value of system assets to the actuarial accrued liability 
of the system (the funded ratio) that is equal to or greater than 85 percent, then the board, effective on 
the following July 1, may decrease the then current contribution rates upon making a finding that the 
decrease will not result in a funded ratio of less than 85 percent. If contribution rates are decreased 
pursuant to this provision, and the most recent annual actuarial valuation of the system shows a funded 
ratio of less than 85 percent, then effective on the following July first, and annually thereafter as 
necessary, the board shall increase the then current contribution rates until a subsequent annual 
actuarial valuation of the system shows a funded ratio that is equal to or greater than 85 percent. 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

30  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Required employee contribution rates1 are as follows:  
 Fiscal Year 2020 Fiscal Year 2019 
SCRS   
 Employee Class Two 9.00% 9.00% 
 Employee Class Three 9.00% 9.00% 
   
State ORP 9.00% 9.00% 
   
Required employer contribution rates1 are as follows:  
   
SCRS   
 Employer Class Two 15.41% 14.41% 
 Employer Class Three 15.41% 14.41% 
 Employer Incidental Death Benefit 0.15% 0.15% 
   
State ORP   
 Employer Contribution2 15.41% 14.41% 
 Employer Incidental Death Benefit 0.15% 0.15% 
 
1 Calculated on earnable compensation as defined in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. 
2 Of this employer contribution, 5% of earnable compensation must be remitted by the employer 
directly to the ORP vendor to be allocated to the member’s account with the remainder of the employer 
contribution remitted to SCRS. 

 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 

 
Actuarial valuations of the plan involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and future salary increases. Amounts determined regarding the net pension 
liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. South Carolina state statute requires that an actuarial experience 
study be completed at least once in each five-year period. An experience report on the Systems was 
most recently issued for the period ending June 30, 2015.   
 
The June 30, 2019, total pension liability (“TPL”), net pension liability (“NPL”), and sensitivity 
information shown in this report were determined by a consulting actuary, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and 
Company (“GRS”) and are based on an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2018. The total 
pension liability was rolled-forward from the valuation date to the plans’ fiscal year end, June 30, 2019, 
using generally accepted actuarial principles.   
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

31  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
The following provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used to calculate the TPL 
as of June 30, 2019: 

 SCRS  
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal  

Actuarial assumptions:   
Investment rate of return1 7.25%  
Projected salary increases 3.0% to 12.5% 

 (varies by service) 1 
 

Benefit adjustments lesser of 1% or $500 
annually 

 

1 Includes inflation at 2.25%  
 

The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member's job category and gender. The 
base mortality assumptions, the 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality table (“2016 PRSC”) 
was developed using the Systems’ mortality experience.  These base rates are adjusted for future 
improvement in mortality using published Scale AA projected from the year 2016.   
 
Assumptions used in the determination of the June 30, 2019 TPL are as follows: 

 
Former Job Class Males Females 
Educators and Judges 2016 PRSC Males 

multiplied by 92%  
2016 PRSC Females 
multiplied by 98%  

General Employees and Members of 
the General Assembly 

2016 PRSC Males 
multiplied by 100%  

2016 PRSC Females 
multiplied by 111%  

Public Safety and Firefighters 2016 PRSC Males 
multiplied by 125%  

2016 PRSC Females 
multiplied by 111%  

 
Discount Rate 

 
The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.25 percent. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers in SCRS will be 
made based on the actuarially determined rates based on provisions in the South Carolina Code of 
Laws. Based on those assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available 
to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the TPL. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 

 
The following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the collective NPL of the participating 
employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.25 percent, as well as what the Council’s proportional 
share of the employers' NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00 percent 
lower (6.25 percent) or 1.00 percent higher (8.25 percent) than the current rate. 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

32  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 

Sensitivity of the Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 

System 
1.00% Decrease 

(6.25%) 
Current Discount 

Rate (7.25%) 
1.00% Increase 

(8.25%) 
SCRS $ 4,272,053 $     3,391,082 $ 2,655,860 

 
Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Council recognized pension expense of $(510,723) which is 
included in direct personnel costs in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenditures and 
changes in fund balance.  At June 30, 2020, the Council reported deferred outflows (inflows) of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources:  

 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred Inflows  
of Resources 

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement 
date 

 
$ 265,522 

  
$ - 

Differences in actual and expected retirement plan 
experience 

  
 2,331 

   
 (24,361) 

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on plan investments 

 
 30,022 

  
 - 

Change in actuarial assumptions  68,335   - 
Change in proportionate share of net pension 

liability and differences between actual 
contributions and the Council’s proportionate 
share of contributions 

 
 
 
 - 

  
 
 
 (989,581) 

 $ 366,210  $ (1,013,942) 
 
The Council reported $265,522 as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows (inflows) of resources will be 
recognized in pension expense in future years. The following schedule reflects the amortization of the 
Council’s proportional share of the net balance of remaining deferred outflows (inflows) of resources 
at June 30, 2020. Average remaining services lives of all employees provided with pensions through 
the pension plans at June 30, 2019 was 4.026 years for SCRS. 
 

Measurement Period 
Ending June 30, 

Fiscal Year 
Ending June 30, 

  
SCRS 

2020 2021  $ (513,338) 
2021 2022 (374,600) 
2022 2023 (36,481) 
2023 2024 11,165 

 
 

  
$ (913,254) 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

33  

Note 9.  Employee Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
The Council’s contributions to SCRS and ORP for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were 
$265,522 and $228,332, respectively. 
 
Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 
PEBA is a state agency responsible for the administration and management of South Carolina’s 
employee insurance programs and other post-employment benefits trusts.  By law, the SFAA, which 
consists of five elected officials, also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions in administering the State 
Health Plan and other post-employment benefits (OPEB). 
 
Plan Descriptions 
 
The Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund (“OPEB Trust”), refers to the South Carolina Retiree 
Health Insurance Trust Fund (“SCRHITF”) established by the State of South Carolina as Act 195, 
which became effective in May 2008.  The SCRHITF was created to fund and account for the employer 
costs of the State’s retiree health and dental plans.   
 
In accordance with Act 195, the OPEB Trusts are administered by the PEBA - Insurance Benefits 
Division (“IBD”), a part of PEBA.  The State Treasurer is the custodian of the funds held in trust.  The 
Board of Directors of PEBA has been designated as the Trustee. 
 
The OPEB Trust is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan.  Article 5 of the State Code 
of Laws defines the two plans and authorizes the Trustee to at any time adjust the plan, including its 
benefits and contributions, as necessary to insure the fiscal stability of the plan.  In accordance with 
the South Carolina Code of Laws and the annual Appropriations Act, the State provides post-
employment health and dental and long-term disability benefits to retired State and school district 
employees and their covered dependents. 
 
Benefits 
 
The SCRHITF is a healthcare plan that covers retired employees of the State of South Carolina, 
including all agencies, and public school districts.  The SCRHITF provides health and dental insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees.  Generally, retirees are eligible for the health and dental benefits if they 
have established at least ten years of retirement service credit.  For new hires beginning employment 
May 2, 2008 and after, retirees are eligible for benefits if they have established 25 years of service for 
100% employer funding and 15-24 years of service for 50% employer funding. 
 
Contributions and Funding Policies 
 
Section 1-11-710 of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended, requires these 
postemployment benefits to be funded through non-employer and employer contributions for active 
employees and retirees to the IBD. Non-employer contributions consist of an annual appropriation by 
the General Assembly and the statutorily required transfer from IBD reserves. 
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

34  

Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (continued) 
 
The SCRHITF is funded through participating employers that are mandated by State statute to 
contribute at a rate assessed each year by the Department of Administration Executive Budget Office 
on active employee covered payroll. The covered payroll surcharge for the years ended June 30, 2020, 
2019, and 2018 was 6.25%, 6.05% and 5.50%, respectively. The Council paid $107,691 and $94,592 
applicable to the surcharge included with the employer contribution for retirement benefits for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and  2019, respectively. The South Carolina Retirement System 
collects the monthly covered payroll surcharge for all participating employers and remits it directly to 
the SCRHITF.  Other sources of funding for the SCRHITF also include the implicit subsidy, or age-
related subsidy inherent in the healthcare premiums structure.  The implicit subsidy represents a portion 
of the health care expenditures paid on behalf of the employer’s active employees. For purposes of 
GASB Statement No. 75, this expenditure on behalf of the active employee is reclassified as a retiree 
health care expenditure so that the employer’s contributions towards the plan reflect the underlying 
age-adjusted, retiree benefit costs. Non-employer contributions include the mandatory transfer of 
accumulated IBD reserves and the annual appropriation budgeted by the General Assembly.  It is also 
funded through investment income. 
 
For the SCRHITF, the allocation percentage is based on the covered payroll surcharge contribution for 
each employer.  In accordance with part (b) of paragraph 69 of GASB Statement No. 75, participating 
employers should recognize revenue in an amount equal to the employer’s proportionate share of the 
change in the collective net OPEB liability arising from contributions to the OPEB plan during the 
measurement period from non-employer contributing entities for purposes other than the separate 
financing of specific liabilities to the OPEB plan.  Therefore, employers should classify this revenue 
in the same manner as it classifies grants from other entities. 
 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Trusts, and 
additions to and deductions from the OPEB Trusts fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they were reported by the OPEB Trusts.  For this purpose, revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.  Therefore, benefit and administrative expenses 
are recognized when due and payable.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
The IBD issues audited financial statements and required supplementary information for the OPEB 
Trust Funds.  This information is publicly available through the Insurance Benefits’ link on PEBA’s 
website at peba.sc.gov or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA – Insurance 
Benefits, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 29223.  PEBA is considered a division of the primary 
government of the state of South Carolina and therefore, OPEB Trust fund financial information is also 
included in the comprehensive annual financial report of the state. 
 

  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

35  

Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Actuarially determined 
amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future.  The schedules of funding progress, presented as required 
supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend 
information about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time 
relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plans (as 
understood by the employer and plan participants) and include the types of benefits provided at the 
time of the valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and 
plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are 
designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial 
value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.   
 
The following provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used in the June 30, 2019 
valuations for SCRHITF: 

 
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal 
Inflation:   2.25% 
Investment Rate of Return: 2.75%, net of OPEB Plan investment expense; including 

inflation 
Single Discount Rate:  3.13% as of June 30, 2019 
Demographic Assumptions: Based on the experience study performed for the South Carolina 

Retirement Systems for the 5-year period ending June 30, 2015 
Mortality: For healthy retirees, the 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina 

Mortality Table for Males and the 2016 Public Retirees of South 
Carolina Mortality Table for Females are used with fully 
generational mortality projections based on Scale AA from the 
year 2016. Multipliers are applied to the base tables based on 
gender and employment type. 

Health Care Trend Rate: Initial trend starting at 6.40% and gradually decreasing to an 
ultimate trend rate of 4.15% over a period of 14 years 

Retiree Participation:  79% for retirees who are eligible for funded premiums 
59% participation for retirees who are eligible for Partial Funded 
Premiums 
20% participation for retirees who are eligible for Non-Funded 
Premiums 

Notes:    There were no benefit changes during the year. 
The discount rate changed from 3.62% as of June 30, 2018 to 
3.13% as of June 30, 2019.  Minor updates were made to the 
healthcare trend rate assumption. 

 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

36  

Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (continued) 
 
Roll Forward Disclosures 
 
The actuarial valuations were performed as of June 30, 2018.  Update procedures were used to roll 
forward the total OPEB liabilities to June 30, 2019. 
 
Net OPEB Liability 
 
The Net OPEB Liability (NOL) is calculated separately for each OPEB Trust Fund and represents that 
particular Trust’s Total OPEB Liability (TOL) determined in accordance with GASB No. 74 less that 
Trust’s fiduciary net position.  The allocation of each employer’s proportionate share of the collective 
Net OPEB Liability and collective OPEB Expense was determined using the employer’s payroll-
related contributions over the measurement period.  This method is expected to be reflective of the 
employer’s long-term contribution effort as well as be transparent to individual employers and their 
external auditors. 
 
The following table represents the components of the net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019: 
 

OPEB 
Trust 
Fund 

 
Total OPEB 

Liability  

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 

Position  
Net OPEB 
Liability  

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 

Percentage of Total 
OPEB Liability 

SCRHITF $16,516,264,617  $1,394,740,049  $  15,121,524,568  8.44% 
 
The TOL is calculated by the Trusts’ actuary, and each Trust’s fiduciary net position is reported in the 
Trust’s financial statements.  The NOL is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GASB No. 
74 in the Trusts’ notes to the financial statements and required supplementary information.  Liability 
calculations performed by the Trusts’ actuary for the purpose of satisfying the requirements of GASB 
Nos. 74 and 75 and are not applicable for other purposes, such as determining the Trusts’ funding 
requirements. 
 
At June 30, 2020, the Council reported a liability of $2,711,441 for its proportionate share of the net 
OPEB liability.  The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability 
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018 
and rolled forward to June 30, 2019.  The Council’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on 
a projection of the Council’s long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2020, the Council’s 
proportion was 0.017931%. 
 
Single Discount Rate 
 
The Single Discount Rate of 3.13% was used to measure the total OPEB liability for the SCRHITF.  
The accounting policy for this plan is to set the Single Discount Rate equal to the prevailing municipal 
bond rate.  Due to the plan’s investment and funding policies, the difference between a blended 
discount rate and the municipal bond rate would be less than several basis points (several hundredths 
of one percent).   
 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

37  

Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (continued) 
 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 
 
The long-term expected rate of return represents assumptions developed using an arithmetic building 
block approach primarily based on consensus expectations and market based inputs.  The expected 
returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset allocation adopted at 
the beginning of the 2018 fiscal year.  The long-term expected rate of return is produced by weighting 
the expected future real rates of return by the target allocation percentage and adding expected inflation.  
This information is summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class 
Target Asset 

Allocation 

Expected 
Arithmetic Real 
Rate of Return 

Long Term 
Expected 

Portfolio Real 
Rate of Return 

U.S. Domestic Fixed Income  80.00%  0.60%  0.48% 
Cash equivalents  20.00             0.10  0.02 
Total Expected Real Return  100.00%   0.50 
Expected Inflation    2.25 
Total Return    2.75% 
    
Investment Return Assumption    2.75% 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the SCRHITF’s net OPEB liability 
calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 3.13%, as well as what the Council’s proportional share of 
the plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a Single Discount Rate that is one 
percent lower or one percent higher: 
 

 
1.00% Decrease 

(2.13%) 
Current Discount 

Rate (3.13%) 
1.00% Increase 

(4.13%) 
SCRHITF Net OPEB Liability $ 3,214,380 $     2,711,441 $ 2,307,811 
 
Regarding the sensitivity of the SCRHITF’s net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend 
rates, the following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the plan’s net OPEB liability, 
calculated using the assumed trend rates as well as what the Council’s proportional share of the plan’s 
net OPEB liability would be if were calculated using a trend rate that is one percent lower or one 
percent higher: 
 

 1.00% Decrease 
Current Healthcare 

Cost Trend Rate 1.00% Increase 
SCRHITF Net OPEB Liability $ 2,212,825 $        2,711,441 $ 3,360,785 

 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

38  

Note 10.  Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions (continued) 
 
Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Council recognized OPEB expense of $124,255 which is included 
in direct personnel costs in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund 
balance.  At June 30, 2020, the Council reported deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources:  

 
SCRHITF 

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred Inflows  
of Resources 

OPEB contributions subsequent to measurement 
date 

 
$ 107,691 

  
$ - 

Differences in actual and expected investment 
experience  31,928   (88,136) 

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on OPEB plan investments 

 
 3,171 

  
 - 

Change in actuarial assumptions  179,418   (121,098) 
Change in proportionate share  -   (167,907) 
 $ 322,208  $ (377,141) 

 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $107,691 were reported as deferred outflows of 
resources related to OPEB and will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows. Average remaining services lives of all 
employees provided with OPEB through the June 30, 2019 was 7.1330 years for SCRHITF: 
 

Measurement Period 
Ending June 30, 

Fiscal Year Ending 
June 30, 

  
SCRHITF 

2020 2021  $ (38,728) 
2021 2022 (38,728) 
2022 2023 (39,771) 
2023 2024 (41,424) 
2024 2025  (12,741) 

Thereafter  8,768  

  $ (162,624) 
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

39  

Note 11.  Interfund Activity 
 
Interfund Balances - The Council's General fund and Special Revenue Funds have advanced money 
between the funds to finance operations and supplement other fund sources. The repayment is made as 
soon as receivables are collected. The advance is between governmental funds and is, therefore, not 
reflected in the Statement of Net Position. 
 
 

Due to/due from Receivables  Payable 
General fund $ 239,835  $ - 
Aging fund -   163,770 
Transportation fund -  203,638 
Workforce investment and Opportunity 

Act fund - 
 

184,681 
Other non-major governmental funds 312,254  - 

Total $ 552,089  $ 552,089 
 
Interfund Transfers - The following summarizes interfund transfers for the fiscal year ending June 
30, 2020: 
 

 Transfer In  Transfer Out 
General fund $ -  $ 219,036 
Aging fund 2,011   - 
Transportation fund 127,063  - 
Workforce investment and Opportunity 

Act fund 33,607 
 

- 
Non-major governmental funds 56,355  - 

Total $ 219,036  $ 219,036 
 

  

The transfers between the General and Special Revenue Funds were made to meet grant matching 
requirements and or to absorb deficits, if any, in any grant programs. 
 
Note 12.  Fund Balance Reservations and Designations 
 
The Council uses the following governmental fund balance accounts: 
 
Nonspendable for prepaid items – An account used to segregate a portion of fund balance to indicate 
prepaid items are “not in spendable form” even though it is a component of current assets. 
 
Nonspendable for security deposit – An account used to segregate a portion of fund balance to indicate 
security deposit is “not in spendable form” even though it is a component of current assets. 
 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

40  

Note 12.  Fund Balance Reservations and Designations (continued) 
 
Assigned for special purposes general fund – Amounts assigned were approved by the Board of 
Directors and are for the following purposes: 
 

Building maintenance  $ 101,185 
Other purposes  133,845 

Total  $ 235,030 
 
Unassigned: 
 
This represents and includes all spendable amounts of the general fund not contained in the other 
classifications. 
 
Note 13.  Risk Management 
 
The Council is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; thefts of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Council pays an annual 
premium to a private insurer for its insurance coverage. 
 
There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year and no settlements 
have exceeded insurance coverage for the past three years ended June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018. 
 
Note 14.  Unearned Revenue 
 
Unearned revenues (those where asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue 
recognition criteria have not been met due to being in advance of meeting eligibility requirements) 
consist of the following: 
 

 Aging Fund  
Transportation 

Fund  
WIOA 
Fund  

Non-Major 
Governmental 

Funds 
Unexpended carryover amounts $                 -  $                 -  $      48,860  $       388,952 

 
Note 15.  Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 
 
During fiscal year 2020, a number of budgetary departments exceeded appropriated amounts as shown 
in the budgetary comparison statement for the General Fund, Aging Fund, Transportation Fund, and 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act Fund. The Council was able to generate additional income 
to offset the current fiscal year’s excess expenditures. The following departments had expenditures in 
the General Fund, Aging Fund, Transportation Fund, and Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 
Fund and that exceeded budgeted amounts as indicated in the Council’s Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget to Actual on pages 46-49. 
  



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

41  

Note 15.  Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations (continued) 
 

 Budget  Actual  
Actual (Over) 

Budget 
General:      
   Direct personnel costs $ 1,169,378  $ 1,170,314  $ (936) 
   Operations and maintenance   223,973    362,834   (138,921) 
      
Aging Special Revenue Fund:      
   Operations and maintenance   37,500    38,744   (1,244) 
   Other program expenses   15,000    481,458   (466,458) 
      
Transportation Special Revenue Fund:      
   Consulting services   650,000    1,739,917   (1,089,917) 
   Other program expenses   12,280    217,284   (205,004) 
      
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity 

Special Revenue Fund: 
   

 
 

   Operations and maintenance   313,926    393,136   (79,210) 
   Payments to contractors   3,339,812    4,179,848   (840,036) 
 

Note 16.  Subsequent Events 
 
The Council has evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date of 
June 30, 2020 for items that should potentially be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements.  
The evaluation was conducted through February 9, 2021, the date these financial statements were 
available for issuance.   
 
In March 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19 caused by a novel strain of the coronavirus was recognized 
as a pandemic by the World Health Organization.  As a result of the pandemic, the Council has received 
additional grant funding and has realigned some of its programs to conform with these additional grant 
funds.  Sufficient information is not available to adequately evaluate the short-term or long-term impact 
to the Council subsequent to year-end; however, these conditions may adversely impact the Council’s 
operations and future financial condition. 
 



Council’s proportion of the net pension liability                0.0148510 %                  0.015110 %                  0.021368 %                  0.026419 %          0.033480 %                  0.035090 %

Council’s proportionate share of the net pension liability  $             3,391,082  $             3,385,630  $             4,810,280  $             5,643,059  $     6,349,643  $             6,041,355 

Council’s covered payroll  $             1,568,217  $             1,565,797  $             1,603,611  $             2,155,935  $     2,558,308  $             3,139,110 

Council’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as
percentage of covered payroll

                     216.24 %                      216.22 %                      299.97 %                      261.75 %              248.20 %                      192.45 %

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension
liability

                       54.40 %                        54.10 %                        53.30 %                        52.90 %                83.00 %                        59.90 %

The Council implemented GASB Statement 68 and GASB Statement 71 with the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the government will present information for those years for
which information is available.

Note: The amounts presented above were determined as of June 30th of the preceding year.

See accompanying Independent Auditor's Report

Central Midlands Council of Governments
Schedule of the Council's

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
South Carolina Retirement System

As of June 30, 
Last Six Fiscal Years

2018 20162017 201520192020

42



2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Contractually required contribution 265,522$        228,332$        212,322$        282,951$        342,163$        337,690$        
Contributions in relation to the contractually required
   contribution 265,522          228,332          212,322          282,951          342,163          337,690          
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                   

Council's covered payroll 1,706,440$     1,568,217$     1,565,797$     1,603,211$     2,558,308$     3,139,110$     

Contributions as a percentage of the covered payroll 15.56% 14.56% 13.56% 17.65% 13.37% 10.76%

The Council implemented GASB Statement 68 and GASB Statement 71 with the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014

Pension Contributions
Schedule of the Council's

Central Midlands Council of Governments

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the 
government will present information for those years for which information is available.

See accompanying Independent Auditor's Report

Last Six Fiscal Years
As of June 30, 

South Carolina Retirement System

43



Council’s proportion of the collective net OPEB liability                  0.017931 %                  0.018157 %                  0.019016 %                  0.019016 %

Council’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability  $             2,711,441  $             2,572,953  $             2,575,686  $             2,751,355 

Council’s covered payroll  $             1,568,217  $             1,565,797  $             1,603,611  $             2,155,935 

Council’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability as
percentage of covered payroll

                     172.90 %                      164.32 %                      160.62 %                      127.62 %

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB
liability

                         8.44 %                          7.91 %                          7.60 %                          6.62 %

The Council implemented GASB Statement 75 with the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017.

Note: The amounts presented above were determined as of June 30th of the preceding year.

See accompanying Independent Auditor's Report

Central Midlands Council of Governments
Schedule of the Council's

Last Four Fiscal Years
As of June 30, 

South Carolina Retiree Health Insurance Trust Fund
Proportionate Share of the Collective Net OPEB Liability

2018 201720192020

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the government will 
present information for those years for which information is available.

44



2020 2019 2018 2017
Contractually required contribution 107,691$        94,592$          86,118$          85,472$          
Contributions in relation to the contractually required
   contribution 107,691          94,592            86,118            85,472            
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

Council's covered payroll 1,706,440$     1,568,217$     1,565,797$     1,603,611$     
Contributions as a percentage of the covered payroll 6.31% 6.03% 5.50% 5.33%

.
The Council implemented GASB Statement 75 with the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017.

See accompanying Independent Auditor's Report

Central Midlands Council of Governments
Schedule of the Council's

Other Postemployment Benefits Contributions
South Carolina Retiree Health Insurance Trust Fund

As of June 30, 
Last Four Fiscal Years

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
the government will present information for those years for which information is available.

45



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 Original Budget  Final Budget  Actual 

 Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 
REVENUES
Membership dues 577,498$          577,498$          578,218$          720$                 
State aid 70,407              70,407              70,407              -                       
Local revenue -                       -                       4,939                4,939                
Interest income -                       -                       239                   239                   
   Total revenues 647,905            647,905            653,803            5,898                

EXPENDITURES
Direct personnel costs 1,169,378         1,169,378         1,170,314         (936)                  
Indirect cost allocations (1,544,646)        (1,544,646)        (1,317,086)        (227,560)           
Support services:
  Operations and maintenance 223,913            223,913            362,834            (138,921)           
  Development and training 3,755                3,755                2,092                1,663                
  Travel and transportation 32,880              32,880              29,592              3,288                
  Consulting services 20,000              20,000              1,530                18,470              
Other program expenses 55,000              55,000              -                       55,000              
   Total expenditures (39,720)             (39,720)             249,276            (288,996)           

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures 687,625            687,625            404,527            (283,098)           

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers out (370,376)           (370,376)           (219,036)           151,340            
   Total other financing sources (uses) (370,376)           (370,376)           (219,036)           151,340            

Net change in fund balance 317,249            317,249            185,491            (131,758)$         

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,167,257         1,167,257         1,167,257         

Fund balance, end of year 1,484,506$       1,484,506$       1,352,748$       

 46



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - AGING SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 Original Budget  Final Budget  Actual 

 Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 
REVENUES
Federal revenue 4,216,943$       4,216,943$       3,756,527$       (460,416)$         
State revenue 505,151            505,151            1,111,168         606,017            
   Total revenues 4,722,094         4,722,094         4,867,695         145,601            

EXPENDITURES
Direct personnel costs 983,101            983,101            501,060            482,041            
Indirect cost allocations 273,441            273,441            545,889            (272,448)           
Support services:
  Operations and maintenance 37,500              37,500              38,744              (1,244)               
  Development and training 19,000              19,000              17,038              1,962                
  Travel and transportation 27,190              27,190              20,461              6,729                
  Consulting services 1,800                1,800                1,600                200                   
Payments to contractors 3,365,062         3,365,062         3,263,456         101,606            
Other program expenses 15,000              15,000              481,458            (466,458)           
   Total expenditures 4,722,094         4,722,094         4,869,706         (147,612)           

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures -                       -                       (2,011)               (2,011)               

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 2,011                2,011                
   Total other financing sources (uses) -                       -                       2,011                2,011                

Net change in fund balance -                       -                       -                       -$                     

Fund balance, beginning of year -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance, end of year -$                     -$                     -$                     

 47



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - TRANSPORTATION SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 Original Budget  Final Budget  Actual 

 Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 
REVENUES
Federal revenue 1,146,415$       1,146,415$       2,305,317$       1,158,902$       
Local revenue 286,603            286,603            57,431              (229,172)           
   Total revenues 1,433,018         1,433,018         2,362,748         929,730            

EXPENDITURES
Direct personnel costs 536,774            536,774            261,014            275,760            
Indirect cost allocations 155,664            155,664            251,438            (95,774)             
Support services:
  Operations and maintenance 54,700              54,700              19,874              34,826              
  Development and training 12,000              12,000              229                   11,771              
  Travel and transportation 11,600              11,600              55                     11,545              
  Consulting services 650,000            650,000            1,739,917         (1,089,917)        
Other program expenses 12,280              12,280              217,284            (205,004)           
   Total expenditures 1,433,018         1,433,018         2,489,811         (1,056,793)        

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures -                       -                       (127,063)           (127,063)           

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 127,063            127,063            
   Total other financing sources (uses) -                       -                       127,063            127,063            

Net change in fund balance -                       -                       -                       -$                     

Fund balance, beginning of year -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance, end of year -$                     -$                     -$                     

 48



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - WORKFORCE INNOVATION AND OPPORTUNITY ACT SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 Original Budget  Final Budget  Actual 

 Variance 
Positive 

(Negative) 
REVENUES
Federal revenue 4,600,273$       4,600,273$       5,298,722$       698,449$          
Local revenue 25,000              25,000              73,743              48,743              
   Total revenues 4,625,273         4,625,273         5,372,465         747,192            

EXPENDITURES
Direct personnel costs 745,010            745,010            422,755            322,255            
Indirect cost allocations 90,000              90,000              391,031            (301,031)           
Support services:
  Operations and maintenance 313,926            313,926            393,136            (79,210)             
  Development and training 17,000              17,000              6,722                10,278              
  Travel and transportation 29,525              29,525              11,209              18,316              
  Consulting services 40,000              40,000              65                     39,935              
Payments to contractors 3,339,812         3,339,812         4,179,848         (840,036)           
Other program expenses 50,000              50,000              1,306                48,694              
   Total expenditures 4,625,273         4,625,273         5,406,072         (780,799)           

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures -                       -                       (33,607)             (33,607)             

Other financing sources (uses)
  Transfers in 33,607              33,607              
   Total other financing sources (uses) -                       -                       33,607              33,607              

Net change in fund balance -                       -                       -                       -$                     

Fund balance, beginning of year -                       -                       -                       

Fund balance, end of year -$                     -$                     -$                     

 49



  
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based 

on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards 

 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Columbia, South Carolina 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Central 
Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Council’s basic financial statements and 
issued our report thereon dated February 9, 2021. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Council’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.  
  
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  
However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, we did identify certain 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  We consider the deficiencies 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2020-001 and 2020-002 to 
be material weaknesses. 
 
 

 



51 
 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Council’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective 
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance 
of noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and which is described 
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2020-003. 
 
Council’s Responses to Findings 
 

The Council’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs.  The Council’s responses were not subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.   
 
Purpose of this Report 
 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control or 
on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the Council’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is 
not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Columbia, South Carolina 
February 9, 2021



 
 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal Control 
over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Columbia, South Carolina 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the Central Midlands Council of Governments’ (the “Council”) compliance with the 
types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct 
and material effect on each of the Council’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.  The 
Council's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Council’s major federal programs 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Regulations 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Council’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.  
 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our qualified and unmodified opinions on 
compliance for major federal programs.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
Council’s compliance.  
 

Basis of Qualified Opinion on CFDA 20.507, Federal Transit Cluster 

As described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, the Council did not comply 
with requirements regarding CFDA 20.507, Federal Transit Cluster as described in finding number 2020-
003 for Cash Management.  Compliance with such requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the 
Council  to comply with the requirements applicable to that program. 

 



53 
 

 
 

Qualified Opinion on CFDA 20.507, Federal Transit Cluster 

In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the 
Council complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on CFDA 20.507, Federal Transit Cluster for the year ended June 
30, 2020. 

Unmodified Opinion on Each of the Other Major Federal Programs 

In our opinion, Council complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its other major federal programs 
identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs for the year ended June 20, 2020. 

Other Matters 

The Council’s response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Council’s response was not subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the 
response. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
Management of the Council is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the Council's internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control over compliance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as discussed below, we did 
identify certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. A material 
weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely 
basis.  We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2020-003 to be a material weakness. 

 

 



 

54 
 

 

 

The Council’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is described 
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Council’s response was not subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on 
the response. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Columbia, South Carolina 
February 9, 2021 

 
  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

PERIOD ENDING JUNE 30, 2020

Federal Pass through Expenditures
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor CFDA Grantor to Federal

Program Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures
U.S. Department of Commerce
  Direct Programs
    EDA Planning 1/1/2019-12/31/2021 11.302 ED19ATL3020024 -$                 65,378$                           
      Total U.S. Department of Commerce -                   65,378                             

U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development
  Passed through S.C. Department of Commerce
    Regional Planning 14.228 4-RP-18-00-4 -                   50,000                             
    CDBG Administration 14.228 N/A -                   46,463                             
      Total U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development -                   96,463                             

US Department of Labor
  Passed through S.C. Department of Employment & Workforce (SCDEW)
    WIOA Cluster
    WIOA - Adult 17.258 * 19A005  18A005 1,966,117         2,382,094                        
    WIOA - Youth 17.259 * 19Y005 18Y005 1,497,126         1,767,010                        
    WIOA - Dislocated Worker 17.278 * 19DW005 18DW005 633,146            1,051,866                        
     Total WIOA Cluster Passed through SCDEW 4,096,389         5,200,970                        

  SC Works Outreach Implementation Grant 17.258 * 19OUT05 -                   4,998                               
     Incumbent Worker Training 17.258 * 19SET05 -                   3,622                               
     Incumbent Worker Training 17.278 * 18IWT05 25,249              30,922                             
  Rapid Response Additional Assistance 17.278 * 19RRA05 58,210              58,210                             
      Total Passed through SCDEW 4,179,848         5,298,722                        

      Total U.S. Department of Labor 4,179,848         5,298,722                        

U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration
  Direct Programs
   Federal Transit Cluster
    Section 5307 20.507 * SC-37-X027-00 -                   25,746                             
    Section 5307 20.507 * SC-90-X3339-00 -                   85,656                             
    Section 5307-2 20.507 * SC-90-X0292-00 -                   46,636                             
    Section 5307 20.507 * SC-90-x257-00 205,715            205,715                           
    Section 5307 20.507 * SC-90-x274-00 912,749            912,749                           
     Total Federal Transit Formula Grants Cluster 1,118,464         1,276,502                        

   Transit Service Cluster
    Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2017-022-00 -                   81,390                             
    Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2017-022-00 -                   26,696                             

-                   108,086                           

    Section 5310-1A 20-513 SC-2016-019-00 -                   206,864                           
    Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2017-019-00 -                   151,860                           
    Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2018-042-00 -                   63,723                             
    Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-16-X016-00 -                   45,305                             

-                   467,752                           
        Total Transit Service Cluster -                   575,838                           

 55



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (continued)

PERIOD ENDING JUNE 30, 2020

Federal Pass through Expenditures
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor CFDA Grantor to Federal

Program Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures

  Passed through SC Department of Transportation
   Highway Planning & Construction Cluster
    FHWA Planning 20.205  CMCOG P039965 -                   367,976                           
    Rural Planning 20.205  COATS P039940 -                   85,000                             
        Total Highway Planning & Construction Cluster Passed through SCDOT  -                   452,976                           

      Total U.S. Department of Transportation -                   2,305,316                        

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
  Passed through S.C. Department of Health & Environmental Control
    208 Water Quality Management Planning 66.454 EQ-0-277 -                   13,718                             

      Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency -                   13,718                             

US Department of Health & Human Services
  Passed through Lt. Governor's Office on Aging
   Aging Cluster
    Title IIIB Planning & Administration 93.044 L060A00010 -                   137,544                           
    Title IIIE Planning & Administration 93.052 L060A00010 -                   18,829                             
    Title IIIB Supportive Services 93.044 L060A00010 -                   819,763                           
    Title IIIB Ombudsman 93.044 L060B00010 -                   343,276                           
    Title IIIC Nutrition Services 93.045 L060A00010 976,720            976,720                           
    NSIP 93.053 L060A00010 201,347            201,346                           
    Title VII Ombudsman 93.042 L060B00010 -                   19,985                             
    Title VII Elder Abuse 93.041 L060B00010 -                   6,841                               
     Total Aging Cluster 1,178,067         2,524,304                        

    MIPPA - SHIP 93.071 2001SCMISH -                   15,356                             
    Senior Medicare Patrol 93.048 90MPPG0007-03-00 -                   64,791                             
    Title IIIE Caregiver 93.052 L06A00010 316,008            405,140                           
    Title IIID Preventative Health/Medication Management 93.043 90SAPG0043-00 26,653              26,653                             
    SHIAP 93.324 90SAPG0043-00 -                   51,526                             
    COVID-19 93.045 50002000 662,240            668,757                           
      Total Passed through Lt. Governor's Office on Aging 2,182,968         3,756,527                        

      Total U.S. Department of Health & Human Services 2,182,968         3,756,527                        

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
  Direct Programs
    Hazard Mitigation Grant 97.039 FEMA-4394-DR-SC -                   1,244                               

      Total U.S. Department of Commerce -                   1,244                               

      Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 6,362,816$       11,537,368$                    

*  Audited as major program

 56



 

57 
 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
Note A – General 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) presents the activity 
of all federal award programs of the Central Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”) for the 
year ended June 30, 2020.  All federal awards received directly from federal agencies, as well as those 
passed through other government agencies, are included on the Schedule. 

 
Note B – Basis of Accounting 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity of 
the Council under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2020.  The 
information in the Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”).  Therefore, some amounts presented in this 
schedule may differ from amounts presented in or used in the preparation of the financial statements.  
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Council, it is not intended 
to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Council.  

 
Note C – Relationship to Basic Financial Statements 
 

Federal award expenditures are reported in the Council’s basic financial statements as expenditures in 
the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds.  Amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule agree 
with the amounts reported in the related federal financial reports except for timing differences related 
to expenditures made subsequent to the filing of the federal financial reports.  Matching costs, i.e. the 
non-federal share of certain program costs, are not included in the accompanying schedule. 

 
Note F - Contingencies 
 

The Council receives funds under various federal grant programs, and such awards are to be expended 
in accordance with the provisions of the various grants.  Compliance with the grants is subject to audit 
by various government agencies which may impose sanctions in the event of non-compliance.  
Management did not comply with all aspects of the various grant provisions (see schedule of findings 
and questioned costs 2020-003). 

 
Note G – Major Programs 

 
* Denotes major programs 

 
Note F – Indirect Cost 
 

The Council has a restricted indirect cost rate that is used for its federal programs and did not use the 
10% de Minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance and covered in 2 CFR Part 
200.414. 

 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

58 
 

 

Section I—Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 

Financial Statements: 
 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
GAAP: Unmodified. 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

 Material weaknesses identified? Yes 
  

 Significant deficiencies identified?                                                                           None reported 
 

 Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes 
  
Federal Awards: 
 
Internal control over major programs: 

 Material weaknesses identified? Yes 
 

 Significant deficiencies identified? None Reported 
 
 

 Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in  
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?      Yes 

 
Type of report the auditor issued on compliance with major federal programs: Qualified. 
 
Identification of major programs 

CFDA Number                          Name of Federal Program 
17.258 WIOA Cluster /  

WIOA Adult Program            
17.259 WIOA Cluster /  

WIOA Youth Activities 
17.278 WIOA Cluster /  
   WIOA Dislocated Worker Formula Grants 
20.507 Federal Transit Formula Grants Cluster  

 
Dollar threshold used to be distinguished between Type A and Type B Programs:     $750,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No 

 
 
  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

59 
 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings: 
 
Conditions Considered to be Material Weaknesses 
 
2020-001 – Financial Closeout and Reporting  
 
Criteria:  Internal controls should be in place to ensure the Council can perform timely and accurate 
financial closeout procedures in order for the Council to produce its monthly and annual financial 
statements.  
 
Condition:  Internal controls were not sufficient to detect certain misstatements in the preparation of year-
end adjustments and reconciliations.  
 
Context/Cause:  This year's closing process was delayed because some important procedures were not 
performed on time.   
 
Effects:  The results were delays in producing closing entries, trial balances, schedules, reconciliations, 
account analyses, and other financial reports needed by management and the auditors.   
 
Recommendation:  We believe that the year-end closing could proceed more quickly by developing a 
closing schedule that indicates who will perform each procedure and when completion of each procedure 
is due and accomplished. The timing of specific procedures could be coordinated with the timing of 
management's or the auditor's need for the information. The due dates should be monitored to determine 
that they are being met.  
 
2020-002 – Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation 
 
Criteria:  Internal controls should be in place to ensure that the amounts reported as balance sheet accounts 
balances, such as accounts receivable, fixed assets, accounts payable and unearned revenue are appropriate 
and properly valued, in order to make financial reports generated by the accounting system as correct as 
possible. Internal controls should be in place to ensure that the general ledger accounts for accounts 
receivable, fixed assets, accounts payable and unearned revenue are reconciled to detailed reports on a 
monthly basis.  
 
Condition:  Internal controls were not sufficient to detect misstatements in the reporting some of the 
Council’s balance sheet accounts.   
  



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

60 
 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings (continued): 
 
2020-002 – Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation (continued) 
 
Context/Cause: During the preliminary review of initial trial balance provided for the audit we noted that 
certain balance sheet accounts appeared to be higher or lower than expected. We asked the management to 
review these accounts and to make necessary adjustments to correct these balances. Ultimately, the accounts 
receivables were overstated by $64,000, capital assets understated by $34,000 before depreciation, accounts 
payable understated by $26,000, accrued annual leave understated by $44,000, and net position understated 
by $7,000 due to entries posted to the incorrect year.   
 
Effects:  Management was required to make adjusting journal entries to properly report balances of 
accounts receivable, capital assets, accounts payable and unearned revenue as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2020.   
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the Council carefully review its accounts reconciliation procedures to 
ensure all transactions are reported in the proper period in accordance with GAAP. These reconciliations 
will ensure meaningful and accurate financial statements. The financial statements can then be used to help 
in the management decision-making process. A benefit of monthly reconciliations is that errors do not 
accumulate but can be identified and attributed to a particular period, which makes it easier to perform 
future reconciliations.  
 
Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs: 
 
2020-003 – Strengthen Controls over Cash Management 
 
Federal Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration 
Program Title and CFDA Number: Federal Transit – Formula Grants (Urbanized Area Formula Program 
(20.507) 
Federal Award numbers and Year: SC-37-X027-00 (2014), SC-2018-029-00 (2018), SC-90-X0292-00 
(2015), SC-90-X257-00 (2012), SC-90-X274-00 (2013) 
Compliance Requirement: Cash management 
Type of Finding: Material weakness, noncompliance 
Questioned Costs: $0 
Repeat Finding: No 
 
Criteria:  Federal regulations under Uniform Guidance (2 CFR Part 200 Appendix XI Compliance 
Supplement, Cash Management) requires program costs to be paid with recipient funds before 
reimbursement is requested from the Federal government.   
 
Condition:  Of the 10 cash drawdowns that were selected for testing, the independent auditor noted seven 
instances in which the drawdown was performed prior to payment of the related invoice.  Total payments 
for the seven invoices noted above were $918,193.  
 
Cause:  Internal controls should be in place to ensure the Council appropriately follow the Federal 
drawdown procedures.  
  
Effects:  The Council is not in compliance with Federal requirements for the cash management attribute.  
Ineffective controls to monitor cash drawdowns resulted in noncompliance.  Excess funds could be drawn 
down and not expended.   
 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

61 
 

 
Recommendation:  We believe the Council should establish an internal control system to ensure that 
drawdowns are being performed after expenditures have been made, in accordance with Cash Management 
Uniform Guidance requirements.    
 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings: 
 
During our current audit, we reviewed the status of corrective action taken on the findings reported on 
the Council’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019, dated May 26, 2020.  The following 
findings were reported: 
   

2019-001    Financial Closeout and Reporting 
2019-002    Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation 

  
We found that corrective action was not taken on the above findings for fiscal year 2020 and therefore, we 
have repeated finding 2019-001 as finding 2020-001, and finding 2019-002 as finding 2020-002. 
 



62 
 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 

 

MANAGEMENT’S CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

JUNE 30, 2020 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Finding 2020-1 Financial Closeout and Reporting 

 

Name of Contact Person Responsible for the Corrective Action Plan: 

Petula Hendley, Director of Financial Management and Support Services 

Chanell Jackson, Finance Director 

 

Corrective Action Plan: The Finance Department is in the process of developing policies and 
procedures that will address Finding 2020-001, Financial Closeout and Reporting. The new 
policies and procedures will include a closeout checklist for monthly and year-end related 
financial activities. Monthly and year-end tasks will be delegated to the Finance staff accordingly 
with assigned due dates of completion.  All checklist items will be tracked and reviewed by the 
Finance Director and reported to the Director of Financial Management and Support Services for 
final approval.  

 

Anticipated Completion Date:  April 1, 2021 

 

Finding 2020-002 Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation 

 

Name of Contact Person Responsible for the Corrective Action Plan: 

Petula Hendley, Director of Financial Management and Support Services 

Chanell Jackson, Finance Director 

 

  



63 
 

Corrective Action Plan:   The Finance Department is in the process of implementing new 
policies and procedures that will address Finding 2020-002, Balance Sheet Account 
Reconciliation.  To ensure that all transactions are reported correctly, a monthly Balance Sheet 
Reconciliation Report will be completed by designated staff member of Finance on a monthly 
basis. The reconciliation will be reviewed for accuracy by the Finance Director and forwarded to 
the Director of Financial Management and Support Services for final approval.  

 

Anticipated Completion Date: April 1, 2021 

 

Finding 2020-003 Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

 

Name of Contact Person Responsible for the Corrective Action Plan: 

Petula Hendley, Director of Financial Management and Support Services 

Chanell Jackson, Finance Director 

 

Corrective Action Plan:  The Finance Department is in the process of implementing policies 
and procedures to address Finding 2020-003, Strengthen Controls over Cash Management. The 
revised policies and procedures will require that all requests for reimbursements be drawn-down 
by one designated member from the Finance Department. Additionally, all requests for 
reimbursements/draw-downs will be completed utilizing CMCOG’s internal Federal Request 
for Reimbursement Form and submitted by the authorized Program Director to the Finance 
Department with support documentation for approval and processing. All relevant draw-down 
requests will be completed at least monthly but not less than quarterly. All payments to 
contractors, vendors etc. will be paid prior to the completion and submission of the required 
reimbursement request(s). All requests will be reviewed by the Finance Director and approved 
by the Director of Financial Management and Support Services and the Executive Director.  

Anticipated Implementation Date: March 1, 2021 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:   All Members of the CMCOG Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Reginald Simmons, Deputy Executive Director/Transportation Director 
 
DATE:   February 25, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:  Rural Officials Survey – 2021  
 
 
The South Carolina Department of Transportation’s (SCDOT) Planning Office is conducting a survey to review 
and document the effectiveness of the agency’s consultation process with rural (non-metropolitan) officials in the 
statewide transportation planning process.  The survey will be used as a tool to measure the effectiveness and 
overall satisfaction of the 10 Council of Governments as partners of SCDOT in the planning and programming of 
transportation improvements in rural areas. In this regard, we are asking the COGs to ensure that each member of 
your Board receives and completes the 8-question survey.  
  
We are providing two opportunities for your Board members to complete the survey: 
  

1.      Using the attached hardcopy version of the survey, COGs are asked to make the necessary 
copies and pass them out to their Board members at their next scheduled meeting, possibly making 
the survey a five- to-10 minute item on the meeting’s Agenda. It is most important that all Board 
members complete the survey at their next scheduled meeting and that the COGs collect the surveys 
before the Board leaves the meeting. Completed surveys are to be mailed, emailed or faxed to 
me (See contact information below) by the April 26, 2021 deadline or sooner. As several of you 
may recall, COGs assisted SCDOT with this survey in this manner in 2010 & 2016, which resulted in 
a tremendous response. 

  
2.      For COGs who communicate via email with their Board members, we are providing a link to 
the electronic version of the survey. COGs may forward the survey to their Board members and ask 
them to complete the survey before their next scheduled meeting. However, COGs are asked to 
follow up with Board members to ensure they completed the survey electronically and if they did not, 
please have them complete the paper copy. The electronic survey will be available to answer for 
60 days beginning February 24, until April 26, 2021 and can be accessed by the link below:  
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/N53M32J . 

  
For more information, please contact Ms. Covington by: 

• PHONE:  803-737-3935  
• EMAIL: covingtonvf@scdot.org 
• MAIL: SCDOT, Office of Planning, P.O. Box 191, Columbia, SC 29202 or FAX: 803-737-1858. 

 
ATTACHMENT 
Rural Officials Survey - 2021 
 
 
E:\Silver Flash Drive 3-27-18\Board  Meeting Info\2021 Board Meetings\Rural Official Survey.doc 
 
 

Serving Local Governments in South Carolina's Midlands 
236 Stoneridge Drive, Columbia, SC 29210  (803) 376-5390  FAX (803) 376-5394  Web Site:  http://www.centralmidlands.org 



Rural Officials Survey - 2021
Evaluating the Effectiveness of: Consultation with non-metropolitan  

officials in the transportation planning process

FIXING AMERICA’S SURFACE TRANSPORTATION (FAST) ACT legislation provides for States to consult with 
and consider the concerns of non-metropolitan officials when making transportation decisions in their 
Statewide Transportation Planning and Programming processes. The law requires States to document their 
non-metropolitan local officials’ consultation process. These processes provide for the participation of non- 
metropolitan local officials in a statewide transportation planning and programming process, and that it is 
separate and discrete from the public involvement process.

At least every five years (as of February 24, 2006), States are required to review and solicit comments 
from non- metropolitan local officials and other interested parties regarding the effectiveness of 
the consultation process. This survey will be used as a tool to measure the effectiveness and overall 
satisfaction of rural officials in planning and programming transportation improvements in rural areas.

Your input is very important. Please take a moment to complete the eight-question survey below and return 
the completed form to your COG representative. Please rate each statement according to how effective you 
think the process is.

1.	 Check the box that best describes how you are involved in transportation planning decisions:	

2.	 The current process for engaging rural, non-metropolitan officials in the development of the Statewide 
Multimodal Plan involves input from the 10 Council of Governments, a resource committee comprised 
of federal, state, regional, and local transportation agencies/organizations, state and regional economic 
development agencies, chambers of commerce, and numerous special interest groups. The current process 
allows an opportunity for you to provide input and direction in determining long range transportation 
priorities for the state.

3.	 The current process of long range planning, administered by the COG, allows an opportunity for you to 
provide input and direction in determining the future transportation projects for your region.

4.	 The current process of prioritizing projects allows for an equitable and comprehensive evaluation of 
project priorities.

�� Elected Official �� Appointed �� Other (please specify)
_______________________

�� Most Effective �� Effective �� Least Effective	

�� Most Effective �� Effective �� Least Effective	

�� Most Effective �� Effective �� Least Effective 	



5.	 The Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) lists specific transportation projects 
scheduled during a six to seven-year period for the entire state. The current process of programming the 
STIP, administered by the COG and SCDOT, allow an opportunity for you to provide input and direction in 
determining the projects that are programmed for design, right-of-way, and construction for your region.

6.	 I am satisfied with the approach of utilizing the COG as a clearinghouse for rural transportation  
decision -making.	

7.	 I am satisfied with the level of planning and engineering assistance the SCDOT provides to support the 
rural transportation planning and programming efforts of the COG. 

8.	 Please list any recommendations or suggestions that you feel would improve the current rural 
transportation planning process, consultation procedures, and public involvement practices currently  
in place.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Please give completed survey to your COG representative  
or mail before the April 26, 2021 deadline to:

Ms. Viola Covington, Program Manager
Public Involvement Planning Office

P. O. Box 191, Columbia, SC 29201
You may also FAX the completed form to Viola Covington at 803.737.1858.

�� Most Effective �� Effective �� Least Effective 	

�� Most Satisfied �� Satisfied �� Least Satisfied 	

�� Most Satisfied �� Satisfied �� Least Satisfied 	


	Full Board Agenda 2.25.21
	Enclosure 1 - Board Minutes  1.28.21
	Enclosure 2- CMCOG -COATS MPO Draft Public Participation Plan
	Public Participation Plan Cover Letter
	CMCOG - COATS MPO Draft Public Participation Plan 2-18-21

	Enclosure 3 - CMCOG FInal Issued PDF 2020
	Enclosure 4 - Rural Official Survey
	Rural Official Survey
	Rural Officials Survey - 2021




